# Investigation of the role of the PTEN proximal genes in NRAS<sup>Q61</sup> and BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> driven melanoma in vitro

Naima Mohamed

Biology Department, McGill University

August,2020

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Naima Mohamed, 2020

### **Table of Contents**

L	Abstract	3
Eng	lish	3
Fran	ıçaise	5
II	Acknowledgments	7
III	Author contributions	8
1.	Introduction	9
1.1	introduction to Melanoma	9
1.2	Genetics and Environmental factors involved in Melanoma susceptibility	. 12
1.3	MAPK signaling pathway in melanoma	.14
1.4	PI3K-AKT pathway in melanoma	. 19
1.5	Therapeutics and mechanisms of resistance in BRAF/NRAS mutant melano 23	ma
1.6	Research Objectives:	. 29
2.	Materials and Methods:	32
2.1	Culture of Mammalian cell lines	. 32
2.2	Transfections	. 33
2.3	shRNAs in the Lentiviral vectors used	. 34
2.4	Lentivirus Titration-TurboRFP Positive colonies	. 34
2.5	Lentivirus Titration- Puromycin-Resistant colonies	. 35
2.6	Lentivirus infection	. 36
2.7	Doxycycline Treatment	. 36
2.8	Colony formation assay of cells	. 37
2.9	Proliferation assays	. 37
2.10	Cell lysis and protein quantification	. 37
2.11	Immunoblotting assay	. 38
2.12	Microscopy	. 39
2.13	BrdU cycle analysis and Flow cytometry	. 39
3.	Results	41
3.1	ShRNA triaging using a luciferase reporter system	. 41
<b>3.2</b> 3.2.1 3.2.2	PTEN proximal genes Knockdown in Melanoma cell lines Inducible shRNA delivery system Infecting the melanoma cell lines and knockdown confirmation Proliferation and viability appage of pTREC. ShRNA derived cell lines	. <b>44</b> . 44 . 47
3.2.3 3.2.4	Cell cycle analysis of pTREG-ShRNA derived cell lines	. 59

4.	Discussion	. 61
5.	Future directions:	.62
6.	Conclusion:	.65
7.	Bibliography	. 67

# **Table of Figures**

Figure 1.1. Schematic of relevant cell signaling pathways and frequency of mutations in Figure 3.1. Rapid Triage of novel shRNA using dual luciferase reporter system.......42 Figure 3.2. The results of the luciferase assay triaging for shRNAs targeting PTEN proximal genes......43 Figure 3.3. pLEG and pTREG shRNA-mediated knockdown of targeted genes.......46 Figure 3.7. Confluency analysis using the incucyte for A375-pTREG derived cell lines54 Figure 3.8. Proliferation assay using the cell counting for A375-pTREG derived cell Figure 3.10. Confluency analysis using the incucyte for Sbcl2-pTREG derived cell Figure 3.11. proliferation assay using the cell counting for Sbcl2-pTREG derived cell Figure 3.14. Effect of the pTREG-mediated knockdown of PTEN proximal genes on cell cycle progression of Sbcl-2 cells......60

# Table of tables

# I Abstract

#### English

Cutaneous melanoma remains the leading cause of mortality of skin cancer, with 75% of all deaths associated with skin cancers, and possessing a 5-year survival rates. Moreover, cutaneous melanoma is the most diagnosed cancer among young adults between 25 to 29 years old. Considering the genetic heterogeneous nature of cutaneous melanoma, uncovering the genetic underpinnings for initiation and progression of malignant melanoma is crucial toward the improvement of targeting strategies. BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> and NRAS<sup>Q61</sup> has been identified as the two most common oncogenic mutations in melanoma. BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutations has been identified as the earliest and the most prevalent melanoma mutations. BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutations stimulates cellular proliferation and survival through sustaining the activation of the MAPK pathway. However, BRAF hyperactivation alone is insufficient for the full malignancy conversion in melanoma due to oncogenic induced senescence. This is consistent with the observation of BRAFV600E mutations in moles. Progression to malignancy in BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> melanoma is accompanied by silencing of one or more tumor suppressor genes such as PTEN. PTEN negatively regulates the PI3K-AKT pathway, which promotes cellular survival and proliferation in parallel to the MAPK pathway. Moreover, it has been illustrated that BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> cooperates with PTEN loss to induce malignant melanoma. NRAS mutations are the second most common oncogenic mutations in melanoma, associated with aggressive tumors and shorter survival in early and late stage melanoma. Unlike BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutations, NRAS<sup>Q61</sup> mutations stimulate cellular survival and proliferation through the

hyperactivation of the MAPK pathway and the PI3K-AKT pathway. The dual activation aspect of mutant NRAS to both MAPK and PI3K-AKT signaling, provides a rationale for the dual inhibition of both signaling cascades to restrain tumor growth in NRAS mutant melanomas. In addition, there are studies suggesting the that concurrent inhibition of the PI3K-AKT pathway and MAPK pathway is a promising effective therapeutic target for human cancers harbouring RAS mutations. By implementing an shRNA-mediated knockdown approach, this research aims to investigate which of proteins upstream and downstream of PTEN in the PI3K-AKT pathway (PTEN proximal proteins, PI3K, PDK1, AKT family members), mediate the malignancy of NRAS<sup>Q61</sup> and BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> melanomas in vitro. Thus, the main objective of this research is to identify potential druggable contributors to melanoma development and drug resistance. Toward this goal, I have used a unique inducible shRNA lentiviral expression system to effectively and specifically knockdown PTEN proximal genes, to assess their role in melanoma malignancy. I investigated the effect of PTEN proximal genes knock down in NRAS<sup>Q61</sup> and BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> driven melanoma cell lines on proliferation, viability and progression through cell cycle. Using this in vitro model, I determined that the PTEN proximal gene knockdown decreased proliferation in melanomas derived from BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> and more significantly in NRAS <sup>Q61</sup>. More importantly, illustrate that the knockdown of the PTEN proximal genes uniquely causes be cell cycle arrest in NRAS Q61R melanoma cell line.

#### Française

Le mélanome cutané est la première cause de mortalité du cancer de la peau, avec 75% des décès associés à celui-ci et ayant un taux de survie de 5 ans. De plus, le mélanome cutané est le cancer le plus diagnostiqué chez les jeunes adultes de 25 à 29 ans. Compte tenu de l'hétérogénéité génétique du mélanome cutané, la découverte des fondements génétiques impliqués dans l'initiation et la progression du mélanome malin est cruciale et permet d'avoir des stratégies ciblées dans sa prise en charge. BRAFV600E et NRASQ61 ont été identifiés comme étant les deux mutations d'oncogènes les plus courantes dans le mélanome. Les mutations BRAFV600E sont des mutations qui apparaissent plus précocement et sont les plus fréquentes. BRAFV600E stimule la prolifération cellulaire et la survie en maintenant l'activation de la voie MAPK. Cependant, l'hyper-activation de BRAF seule est insuffisante pour la transformation maligne en mélanome en raison de la sénescence induite par cet oncogène. Ceci est cohérent avec l'observation des mutations BRAFV600E au niveau des grains de beauté. La progression vers une tumeur maligne dans le mélanome BRAFV600E s'accompagne de la désactivation d'un ou de plusieurs gènes suppresseurs de tumeurs tel que PTEN. PTEN régule négativement la voie PI3K-AKT, favorisant la survie et la prolifération cellulaires parallèlement à la voie MAPK. De plus, il a été montré que BRAFV600E coopère avec la perte de PTEN pour induire le mélanome malin. La mutation NRAS, deuxième mutation la plus courantes dans le mélanome, est associée à des tumeurs agressives et à une survie plus courte dans le mélanome de stade précoce et avancé. Contrairement aux mutations BRAFV600E, les mutations NRASQ61 stimulent la survie et la prolifération cellulaire grâce à l'hyperactivation de la voie MAPK et de la voie PI3K-AKT. L'aspect de double activation de la

mutation NRAS, à la fois de la voie de signalisation MAPK et de la voie PI3K-AKT, fournit une justification pour la double inhibition des deux cascades de signalisation pour freiner la croissance tumorale dans les mélanomes où NRAS est muté. De surcroit, certaines études suggèrent que l'inhibition concomitante de la voie PI3K-AKT et de la voie MAPK est une cible thérapeutique efficace prometteuse pour les cancers humains porteurs de mutations RAS. Mon projet vise à identifier les protéines en amont et en aval de PTEN dans la voie de signalisation PI3K-AKT (protéines proximales PTEN, PI3K, PDK1, membres de la famille AKT) impliquées dans la malignité des mélanomes NRASQ61 et BRAFV600E, en utilisant une approche de knockdown médiée par shRNA. L'objectif principal de cette recherche est d'identifier les contributeurs au développement du mélanome et à la résistance aux médicaments et qui seraient de potentiels cibles médicamenteuse. Pour cela, j'ai utilisé un système d'expression lentiviral de shRNA unique inductible pour éliminer efficacement et spécifiquement les gènes proximaux PTEN, afin d'évaluer leur rôle dans la malignité du mélanome. J'ai étudié les effets du knockdown des gènes proximaux PTEN dans les lignées cellulaires du mélanome induites par NRASQ61 et BRAFV600E, en particulier sur la prolifération, la viabilité et la progression à travers le cycle cellulaire. En utilisant ce modèle in vitro, j'ai déterminé que le knockdown du gène proximal PTEN diminuait la prolifération dans les mélanomes dérivés de BRAFV600E, et plus significativement dans NRAS Q61. Pour finir, j'ai démontré que le knockdown des gènes proximaux PTEN provoque l'arrêt du cycle cellulaire uniquement dans la lignée cellulaire du mélanome NRAS Q61R.

# **II Acknowledgments**

First, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. David Dankort as the one who gave me the opportunity to work in his laboratory and whose guidance and support were instrumental during my graduates' studies at McGill. He provided not only academic support, but also an atmosphere of warmth and encouragement. Also, I would like to thank to Abdulla Al Ghurair Foundation for education for supporting me financially as an international student at McGill. I would also like to extend my appreciation to the members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Nam-Sung Moon and Dr. Freider Scheock for their advisement on my research.

I would like to extend my appreciation to the previous lab members, Kendall Dutchack, Sam Garnett for being ready to give me help and advice when needed. I would also like to thank the former graduate student who worked on this project; Angeline de Bruyns. Her work allowed this project to progress smoothly.

Thank you to the members of the Bellini 2<sup>nd</sup> floor labs for being welcoming and I appreciate all the occasions when neighboring labs were willing to lend me equipment and reagents for my research needs. Finally, I would like to thank my family and my friends for their continued support during my studies. I am grateful for all the friends I made in Montreal, who essentially made Montreal my home away from home.

## **III Author contributions**

This thesis was written entirely by myself (Naima Mohamed). The work described herein is the research efforts for my graduate degree and was performed by me unless otherwise stated. I would like to recognise Angeline De Bruyns for her efforts in triaging the shRNAs using the luciferase assay and selecting the shRNAs that targets PI3K-AKT pathway genes. She also worked in optimizing and testing the lentiviral delivery system, which was crucial for my work. Her contribution to this project has been illustrated in Figures (3.1-3). Also, I must recognise Kyle Lewis for generating the lentiviral vectors capable of targeting multiple PTEN proximal gene simultaneously. Finally, I would to recognise the efforts of Sam Garnett, who made the pTRIPz plasmid Gateway and making it compatible to create the pTREG vector, I used extensively during the course of my work.

# 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 introduction to Melanoma

Melanoma is the cancer of melanocytes, which are the pigment-producing cells found predominantly in the skin and eyes. Melanocytes are neural-crest derived and reside just above the basement membrane of the epidermis <sup>1</sup>. Their primary function is to produce melanin after stimulation by the MSH (melanocyte stimulating hormone), which is secreted by keratinocytes in response to UV signals <sup>2</sup>. This paracrine signaling will eventually lead to the deposition of melanin at the apical surface of keratinocyte nuclei, producing a protective shield against UV damage <sup>2</sup>.

Histological classification divide melanoma derived within epithelia into four groups:1- Cutaneous melanoma: lentigo and desmoplastic melanomas (from areas on the head and neck with high ultraviolet exposure); 2- mucosal melanomas (anorectal, vaginal, nasal, gastrointestinal tract); 3- Acral melanomas (arising from lesions in palms, nails and soles). Also, melanoma can arise from areas outside of epidermis like in the eye (Uveal melanoma)<sup>2</sup>. Most melanoma cases are cutaneous with 91.2% prevalence and the non-cutaneous melanoma are relatively rare including the uveal (5.2%) and mucosal (1.3%)<sup>3</sup>.

According to the World Health Organization, globally cutaneous melanoma has been increasing over the past decades, with the highest prevalence in Australia, New Zealand, North America, in northern and western Europe <sup>4</sup>. The average age of a patient diagnosed with melanoma is 63, however, melanoma is the most diagnosed cancer among the young adults between 25 to 29-year-olds in the United States <sup>5</sup>. In comparison to other skin cancers such as basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma, cutaneous melanoma is much less prevalent with 132,000 cases occurring globally each year comparing to 2-3 million cases in non-melanoma skin cancers <sup>6</sup>. Nevertheless, while the diagnosis and treatment of non-melanoma skin cancer increased by 77% by 2014, the melanoma deaths is predicted to decrease by 5.3% in 2020 <sup>7,8</sup>. Mortality associated with non-melanoma skin cancer is rare comparing to malignant melanoma, which accounts for 75% of all deaths associated with skin cancer<sup>9</sup>. In fact, cutaneous melanoma is recognised for being the leading cause of mortality of skin cancers because of its highly tendency to metastasize and resistance to the rapeutic treatment <sup>10</sup>. The surgical resection of regional melanoma (spreading nearby the skin or lymph nodes) has a 65% of 5-year relative survival rate<sup>11</sup>. This number drops to an abysmal 25% when the melanoma metastasizes to distant organs <sup>11</sup>. Furthermore, melanoma is a genetic heterogeneous disease, associated with one of the greatest burdens of somatic genetic mutations along with lung tumors in comparison to other human tumors, containing ~200 nonsynonymous mutation <sup>12,13,14</sup>. The rising incidence and the poor prognosis motivated researchers to understand the biology of melanoma and its genetic heterogeneity toward improving the design of the targeting strategies.

Histological studies suggest that melanoma-genesis is multistep process. Melanoma progression is characterised by acquiring additional genetic mutations that promote a survival, proliferative or/and invasive advantage <sup>2,15,16</sup>. Malignant melanoma often arises from acquired or congenital nevi (or moles) without dysplasia (benign) or dysplastic nevi <sup>15</sup>. Nevi develop from an uncontrollable proliferation of melanocytes as a result of an oncogenic mutation<sup>15,16</sup>. Nevi can be categorized into three groups based on their location: junctional (melanocytes restricted to the epidermis), intradermal (melanocytes

confined at the dermis) and compound (at both an epidermis and dermis) nevi <sup>2</sup>. Interestingly, melanocytic nevi can remain growth arrested for the lifetime of the individual due to a phenomenon known as oncogene induced senescence (OIS)<sup>17-21</sup>. OIS is mediated by the engagement of tumor suppressive mechanisms by two key players, p53 and retinoblastoma protein (RB) <sup>22-26</sup>. P53, is a transcription factor <sup>27</sup>that, in addition to many other genes, induces expression of its transcriptional target *CDKN1A*, which encodes p21CIP1, a cyclin dependent kinase (CDKs) inhibitor, leading to cell cycle arrest <sup>28,26</sup>. Activated hyperphosphorylated RB binds to the E2F-family transcription factors to repress their transcriptional targets and inhibit cell cycle progression<sup>29</sup>.

The best-known locus associated with cellular senescence and melanoma susceptibility is *CDKN2A* <sup>30-33</sup>. This locus encodes two distinct proteins that function as tumor suppressors: p14<sup>ARF</sup> and p16<sup>INK4A</sup>. Both proteins negatively regulate the cell cycle by modulating p53 and pRB levels and/or activity. INK4A directly inhibits cyclin dependent kinases CDK4 and CDK6 mediated phosphorylation of pRB, preventing the progression from G1 to S phase in the cell cycle <sup>34</sup>. ARF sequesters double minute 2 homolog (HDM2), a ubiquitin ligase targeting p53, thereby preventing p53 proteasomal degradation. Hence, elevated ARF levels prohibit cell cycle progression by stabilizing tumor suppressor p53 <sup>35,36</sup>.

Melanoma can arise from benign and or dysplastic nevi in what appears to be a stepwise manner, progressing from nevi to the radial growth phase (RGP) melanoma, which is an intra-epidermal lesion with a local micro invasion of the dermis <sup>1</sup>. Fortunately, surgical resection tends to be curative to RGPs <sup>37,38</sup>. When melanoma cells are capable to progress to the vertical growth phase (VGP) by breaking through the basement

membrane to the dermis and the subcutaneous tissue, they acquire a metastatic potential <sup>16,1</sup>. However, not all melanomas pass through each of these individual phases as RGP and VGP; they can develop directly from nevi or melanocytes directly and progress to metastatic melanoma. Nonetheless, the most crucial stage in melanoma is the transition to VGP as melanocytes become capable of anchorage-independent growth <sup>39,40</sup>. Surgical resection of early staged melanoma has a 98% of 5-year survival rate and this number drops significantly to 16% when it metastasizes to distant organs<sup>2</sup>.

Understanding of the biology underlying melanoma's initiation and progression requires the understanding of its genetics. Mutational analysis has identified high-risk genes and environmental factors that would increase susceptibility to melanoma. All of which will be addressed down below.

### 1.2 Genetics and Environmental factors involved in Melanoma susceptibility

Melanoma etiology is intricate, and it involves genetic and environmental risk factors. The main environmental risk factor associated with melanoma genesis is the exposure to ultraviolet radiation (UVR)<sup>41,42</sup>. In general, UVR from the sun or tanning beds could cause DNA damage by forming pyrimidine dimers, genetic mutations, photoproducts and oxidative stress that facilitate carcinogenesis <sup>43-45</sup>. In particular, a crucial genetic-environmental interaction that contributes to melanoma genesis is the role of polymorphisms in the melanocortin receptor 1 (*MC1R*) gene in sensitivity to the UV <sup>46,47</sup>. MC1R is stimulated in response to sunlight Exposure. Exposure to the sunlight, stimulates p53 to activate the expression of POMC in keratinocytes, a **p**recursor protein **o**f alphamelanocyte-stimulating hormone( $\alpha$ -MSH). The binding of the  $\alpha$ -MSH to the MC1R

induces the melanin production in melanocytes. The deposition of melanin in keratinocytes protects the skin from DNA damage caused by the UV, by forming a UV protective shield around the nuclie<sup>48</sup>.

Different degrees of pigmentations in skin colour and hair, and in response to the UV radiation is mediated by the germline polymorphisms in the *MC1R* gene <sup>49</sup>. For instance, *MC1R* is remarkably polymorphic in whites with particular alleles associated with melanoma susceptibility <sup>47,49</sup>. The increased polymorphism in Caucasian populations, with a number of MC1R alleles that contribute to light-skin, red/blonde hair, inability to tan in whites and minimal ability to produce the UV protective shield around the nuclei, follows an augmented risk of melanoma development<sup>15,50-53</sup>. Moreover, this phenotype has been associated with the number and severity of melanoma tumours in familial and sporadic cases at a much higher rate in populations with lighter skin color than those with darker skin color <sup>2,15,46,47,54</sup>.

Another factor involved in melanoma susceptibility is the family history of melanoma, as 5–10 % of melanoma cases occur in familial setting <sup>55</sup>, suggesting genetic underpinnings are responsible. A major high-risk melanoma susceptibility gene is *CDKN2A*, as inactivating mutations of the *CDKN2A* gene occur in 20% - 40% of cases in melanoma-prone families <sup>56</sup>. To a much lesser extent than *CDKN2A*, cyclin dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) locus has been identified as a high-risk melanoma susceptibility gene <sup>57-61</sup>. These latter mutations are interesting in that they encode a version of CDK4 that is resistant to inhibition by INK4A <sup>57</sup>. Recently, genes (tert pot1, shelterin) that are involved in telomere maintenance has been associated with melanoma susceptibility. The

germline mutations in genes that play a role in telomere maintenance contribute to around 1% of familial melanoma <sup>62-66</sup>.

Another pathway that controls progression through the cell cycle, and is frequently mutant in sporadic melanoma and other cancers, is the MAPK (**m**itogen **a**ctivated **p**rotein **k**inase) signaling pathway. The MAPK signaling pathway transmits extracellular signals to cytoplasmic and nuclear effectors that act to mediate cell survival, proliferation, differentiation and progression through the cell cycle<sup>67-69</sup>. The relevance of the most common MAPK pathway mutations in melanoma will be discussed below.

#### **1.3 MAPK signaling pathway in melanoma**

The MAPK pathway consist of Raf/MEK/ERK signaling cascade. This pathway is activated by Ras (HRAS, KRAS and NRAS in humans), which is a GTPase protein localized in the plasma membrane <sup>70</sup>. RAF (ARAF, BRAF, CRAF in humans), MEK 1/2 and ERK 1/2 are serine-threonine kinases <sup>71</sup>. This pathway regulates cell survival, differentiation and proliferation in response to extracellular signals <sup>72,73</sup>. The MAPK pathway can be stimulated by receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK), cytokines and heterotrimeric G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) activated by extracellular growth factors <sup>74</sup>. This stimulation will facilitate the switch of the membrane-bound GTPase protein RAS from the GDP bound to GTP bound state, changing it to its active conformation. The exchange of GDP for GTP is catalyzed by a family of guanine SOS 74,75 nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) such as Normally, RTK autophosphorylation and dimerization facilitates the recruitment of adapter proteins that bind to the activated receptor such as Grb2 (growth factor receptor-bound protein2). Grb2

also binds to SOS simultaneously, which causes SOS to bind Ras and catalyzes the GDP to GTP exchange on Ras <sup>76</sup>. The activity of RAS is also negatively regulated by stimulating its intrinsic GTPase activity by the GTPase activating proteins (GAP) <sup>75,77</sup>.

GTP-bound RAS serves as a docking site for RAF kinases to the plasma membrane. Indeed, GTP-bound RAS transduces extracellular signaling by its association with a spectrum of downstream effectors including RAF and PI3K $\alpha$  (discussed in the following section) <sup>78-80</sup>. RAS effectors contain a RAS binding domain (RB), which is essentially a prerequisite to their interaction with the GTP-bound form of RAS and their activation <sup>78,81</sup>.

In case of RAF kinases, this interaction causes conformational changes and phosphorylation events to activate the kinase activity. Subsequently, RAF kinases recruit and phosphorylate MEK 1/2 kinases which consequently phosphorylate ERK 1/2 kinases <sup>68,69,71</sup>. Activated ERK phosphorylate a large number of substrates, including transcription factors that regulate the cellular response to the extracellular signal<sup>72,73,82</sup>.

The MAPK pathway is a crucial activator of melanoma cell proliferation as ERK is activated in 90% of melanomas<sup>82</sup>. A major breakthrough in understanding melanoma occurred in 2002 when activating mutations in *BRAF* were identified in 59% of melanomas <sup>83,84</sup>. The vast majority of these mutations occur at a single base mutation, altering a T to A at the 1799 position of the BRAF gene and this results in the substitution of a glutamic acid for valine at the 600 codon <sup>83,84,85</sup> (BRAF<sup>V600E</sup>). This mutation renders a 400 to 600-fold increase in BRAF activity comparing to the wild type function<sup>69,86,87</sup>. In addition to melanoma BRAF, and in particular BRAFV600E mutations have been identified in

number of cancers such as thyroid cancer, colorectal cancers, ovarian, breast and lung cancers.<sup>84,88,89</sup>.

The hyperactivation of BRAF activity will stimulate proliferation, survival, and promotes angiogenesis and metastatic spread of melanoma <sup>90,91</sup>. Interestingly, this high frequency of BRAF mutation in malignant melanoma does not seem to be directly a result of ultraviolet light induced mutation, as the T to A change at the 1799 position is distinct from the CC to TT or C to T changes associated with pyrimidine dimer formation after ultraviolet exposure<sup>92</sup>. Moreover, considering the oncogenic role of BRAFV600E in melanoma, interestingly, the expression of oncogenic BRAF alone is insufficient for full malignant conversion. This is consistent with the observation of the BRAFV600E mutation is in up to 80% of benign nevi(moles)<sup>93</sup>. As mentioned before, nevi rarely progress to melanoma because they remain growth arrested and engaged with OIS<sup>86,93-96</sup>. Indeed, oncogenic BRAF expression in melanocytes is not sufficient for a complete progression to metastatic melanoma <sup>94,96</sup> It has been illustrated in vitro and in vivo (mouse models), that BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> sustained mutation induces cell cycle arrest, which is demonstrated by the p16 INK4a and senescence-associated  $\beta$ -galactosidase (SA- $\beta$ -Gal) activity (senescence markers) <sup>94-96</sup>. This has been further demonstrated with proliferation markers (BrdU) and cell viability staining <sup>94,95</sup>.

The second most prevalent MAPK signaling pathway mutations are in the *NRAS* gene and are observed in 15-20% of melanoma tumors <sup>97</sup>. Indeed, it has been illustrated *in vivo* that when oncogenic HRAS (HRAS <sup>V12G</sup>) or NRAS (NRAS<sup>Q61K</sup>) expression is induced in a mouse model null for INK4a, melanoma genesis and maintenance become upregulated<sup>98,99</sup>. Although they share functional and structural similarities, mutations in

*NRAS*, *KRAS* and *HRAS* are known to be present 20%, 2% and 1% in all melanomas<sup>100</sup>. There is poor understanding of why NRAS mutations are more frequent in melanoma, however, there is suggestions that NRAS could be overexpressed in melanocytes relative to the other isoforms or it activates different signaling pathways than the other isoforms<sup>101,77</sup>.

The most common oncogenic mutation reported for NRAS alters codon 61 (encoding Q61R or Q61K) <sup>23</sup>. Biochemical studies shew that Q61 mutations cause a deficient intrinsic GTPase activity in RAS, reduced sensitivity to GAPs, and an increased intrinsic nucleotide exchange rate. These modifications will lock RAS into its activated GTP associated conformation. Other less frequent NRAS mutations at G12/G13, render NRAS insensitive to the binding by the GAPs <sup>77,102,103</sup>.

In contrast with the BRAF mutants, NRAS mutants are rarely present in benign melanocytic nevi with exception to the congenital nevi, which do not possess *BRAF* mutations <sup>104</sup>. Additionally, patients harboring NRAS mutations tend to be older (>55 years) than patients with BRAF mutations. Moreover, NRAS mutations are found more frequently in areas with chronic exposure to the UV, whereas BRAF-mutant melanomas are more common in intermittently sun-exposed skin <sup>105,106</sup>. However, NRAS mutations in melanoma do not present a classic UVR-induced signature, which, as prior mentioned, are characterized by C to T transitions associated with pyrimidine dimer formation<sup>107.</sup>

Simultaneous presence of BRAF and NRAS mutations in the same tumours are rare <sup>108</sup>. More importantly, BRAF and NRAS activating mutations has been demonstrated to be mutually exclusive at the single cell level <sup>109</sup>. This suggests that the existence of both BRAF and NRAS activating mutation does not confer an advantage for melanoma

initiation and progression or are selected against in tumorigenesis <sup>109-112</sup>. This is consistent with the concept of synthetic lethality relationship, which suggests that double mutants are synthetic lethal if a mutation of either gene is compatible with viability, but simultaneous mutation could deliver signals impairing cellular fitness<sup>113</sup>. Furthermore, recently, the simultaneous appearance of activating mutations in RAS and RAF were demonstrated to be disadvantageous for tumorigenesis because they cause senescence. The expression of BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> and KRAS<sup>G12D</sup> in a mouse model presented a reduced a tumor formation and higher levels of senescence markers, such as  $\beta$ -galactosidase staining and expression of p14<sup>ARF</sup> and p16<sup>INK4A 114</sup>.

In addition to activating MAPK pathway, RAS proteins activate the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/ AKT pathway that functions in parallel to MAPK pathway in regulating proliferation and survival along with other crucial cellular process such as metabolism, motility and angiogenesis. The activation of RAS causes the activation of the P110, the catalytic subunit of PI3K<sup>115,116</sup>. The PI3K-AKT pathway will be discussed in detail in the following section.

Progression to malignant melanoma is generally/often accompanied by the silencing of one or more of tumor suppressors such as CDKN2A and P53 <sup>117</sup>. Loss of *CDKN2A* expression is found in almost 20% of sporadic cases of melanoma, and mutations in *TP53* are less frequent (13%) <sup>118,119</sup>. Mutations in *TP53* and *CDKN2A* are mutually exclusive <sup>119</sup>. This could be also correlated with the concept of synthetic lethality as loss of ARF and P53 simultaneously is potentially selected against in tumorgenesis<sup>30,120,121</sup>.

Another tumor suppressor commonly silenced in melanoma is PTEN. PTEN negatively regulate PI3K/AKT pathway, which is heavily implicated in human cancer including melanoma <sup>122-124</sup> and will be discussed in detail in the next section.

### 1.4 PI3K-AKT pathway in melanoma

Another critical cell signaling pathway that determines multiple cellular processes, notably survival and proliferation is the PI3K-AKT pathway. Activated PI3Ks (<u>phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase</u>) phosphorylate the membrane bound phosphatidylinositol-4,5-biphosphate (PI-4,5-P<sub>2</sub>) at the inositol ring to generate phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>) <sup>125</sup>. Elevated levels of membrane bound PIP<sub>3</sub> leads to the recruitment of proteins containing pleckstrin homology (PH) domain to the membrane. Like the MAPK pathway, the catalytic subunit of class I PI3Ks (P110 $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\gamma$  encoded by *PI3KCA*, *PI3KCB*, *PIK3CD*, and *PIK3CG*) can be activated by growth factors induced receptors including RTKs, GPCRs and, as mentioned before, by RAS signaling <sup>125-127</sup>.

Of particular relevance to melanoma, serine-threonine protein kinases AKT/PKB (Protein Kinase B) ,which has three isoforms (AKT1/PKB  $\beta$ , AKT2 PKB  $\alpha$ , AKT 3/PKB  $\gamma$ ), and PDK1 (Phosphoinositide- dependent kinase 1) are recruited to the membrane via their plekstrin homology (PH) domain and sequentially activated <sup>128-129</sup>. To become fully activated, AKT must be phosphorylated at its Thr308 residue <sup>130,131,132</sup>, which resides in the catalytic domain, by PDK1, and at its Ser473 residue (regulatory domain) by mTORC2 (mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 2) <sup>130,131,132</sup>. Through its serine-threonine kinase activity, AKT phosphorylates a large number of proteins that regulate proliferation, survival, angiogenesis, metabolism and migration <sup>133,134</sup>.

AKTs are well-established in regulating cell survival, in part, by regulating apoptosis through directly phosphorylating and inhibiting pro-apoptotic proteins such as BAD, a BCL-2. Furthermore, AKT regulates the expression of pro-apoptotic proteins. AKT phosphorylates Fork head Box O transcription (FOXO) factors in their nuclear localization sequence, which will lead to their retention in the cytosol. This phosphorylation will prevent FOXO from inducing the transcription of their pro-apoptotic targets such as BIM and PUMA<sup>135,136</sup>. Also, AKT phosphorylates Mdm2, causing it to localize to the nucleus and negatively regulate P53<sup>137</sup>. This will antagonize the P53-mediated induction of the expression of downstream effectors regulating cell cycle arrest or apoptosis such as *P21* or *NOXA* and *PUMA*<sup>137,138</sup>. Essentially through its inhibitory phosphorylation, AKT also promotes cell proliferation by antagonizing the P53- mediated induction of cell cycle arrest promoting targets such as p21<sup>137,138</sup>, and by antagonizing FOXO's activation of its cell cycle arrest transcriptional targets such as p21 and p27<sup>135-140</sup>.

Moreover, AKT's role enhances cell growth by activating mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) complex 1, which activates S6K1, a kinase that phosphorylates several downstream effectors to promote mRNA translation <sup>141,142,143</sup>.

Significantly, several pro-apoptotic AKT effectors have been found to be downregulated such as BAD <sup>144,145</sup>, PUMA and NOXA <sup>146,147,148</sup> in melanoma and associated with melanoma's poor prognosis.

PTEN is both a lipid phosphatase and a dual-specificity protein phosphatase that functions as a tumour suppressor <sup>149-153</sup>. PTEN antagonizes PI3Kinase activity by dephosphorylating the phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5- triphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>) at the 3' position and converting it back into PIP<sub>2</sub> <sup>154-156</sup>. The mapping of the homozygous deletions on

human chromosome 10q23 from tumor samples, which is recognized as a deletion hotspot for tumor suppression <sup>157-160</sup>, led to the isolation of *PTEN* as a tumor suppressor candidate <sup>157,158</sup>. More importantly, PTEN mutations found in tumors has been demonstrated to ablate its phosphatase activity to disrupt its function as a tumor suppressor<sup>157</sup>.

Perhaps the most evident manifestation of PTEN's tumor suppressor function is the identification of PTEN germline mutations in patients with Cowden syndrome. Patients with Cowden syndrome develop multiple benign tumors (hamartomas) and are at high risk for developing thyroid, uterus, brain, and renal cancer <sup>161</sup>. It is interesting to note that PTEN loss of function has been detected in 10%-30% of melanomas, due to frameshift mutations, deletions or epigenetic mechanisms<sup>137,138,142</sup>

Activating mutations in PI3K are relatively common in colon and breast cancer <sup>165,166</sup> yet, PI3K mutations are rarely found in melanoma. Indeed, analyses of melanoma cell lines identified that *PIK3C* mutations are less than 3% of the samples <sup>167,168</sup>. In contrast to normal melanocytes, AKT3 is overexpressed in 60% of melanoma cases and hyper-activated in 43% of melanomas<sup>169,170</sup>. Moreover, studies have identified AKT3 as the most hyperactivated or overexpressed AKT isoform in melanoma <sup>171,172</sup>. This is consistent with studies that demonstrated AKT3 contribution to melanoma progression<sup>173</sup>. Interestingly, *PTEN* mutations and deletions are mutually exclusive with NRAS mutations in melanoma<sup>174,175</sup>. On contrary, many of PTEN loss mutations appeared to be concurrent with BRAF activating mutations <sup>175,176</sup>. In fact, mutational activation of BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> in mice coupled with PTEN gene silencing elicits development of metastatic melanoma <sup>20</sup>. Furthermore, the combinational treatment of rapamycin (mTORC1 inhibitor) and

PD325901(MEK inhibitor) to melanoma mouse models noted a shrinkage of melanomas <sup>20</sup>. Taken together, these data reinforce the importance of the PI3K-AKT signaling in melanoma progression and is consistent with the finding that PTEN functional loss is common in late-stage melanoma <sup>176,177</sup>. The role of the PI3K-AKT pathway in mediating the resistance to BRAFv600e and NRAS targeted the therapy is discussed down below.



1 % to 2% mutations in KIT



#### **1.5** Therapeutics and mechanisms of resistance in BRAF/NRAS mutant melanoma

The prevalence of activating BRAF and NRAS mutations in melanoma led to testing the effect of small molecule inhibitors of the MAPK pathway. The discovery that almost 50% of melanoma patients harboured the BRAFV600E mutation, provided the impetus to develop pharmacological kinase inhibitors that preferentially bind and inhibit V600-mutant over wildtype BRAF or, much less common BRAF mutations <sup>84,177-180</sup>. Two such inhibitors are vemurafenib (also known as PLX4032) and dabrafenib (also known as GSK2118436)<sup>177,178</sup>. Multiple studies demonstrated that these inhibitors induced apoptosis in BRAF-mutant melanoma cell lines and regression in xenograft models <sup>21,182</sup>. Treatment of previously untreated BRAF mutant melanoma patients with vemurafenib provided much improved response rates (~ 48% patients had tumour shrinkage) over dacarbazine, a DNA damaging agent used as the standard of care (5% patients had tumour reduction) <sup>180,183</sup>. Clinical trials comparing the efficacies of vemurafenib treatment to those of dacarbazine treatment (the standard of care for late stage melanoma patients) demonstrate improved progression-free survival (PFS) (the time between the treatment initiation and tumour growth or patient's death) of 5.3 months compared to 1.6 months for dacarbazine <sup>183</sup>. This resulted in the FDA-approval for Vemurafenib for metastatic BRAF melanoma in 2011<sup>179,21,183-185</sup>. Similarly, dabrafenib treatment improved progression-free survival over dacarbazine treatment (5.1 months versus 2.7 months), and when used in combination with vemurafenib achieved 76% response rate in BRAF-mutant melanoma patients <sup>177,178</sup>. This was a breakthrough in metastatic melanoma targeted treatment since before 2011, dacarbazine and interleukin-2 were implemented and approved by the FDA,

despite lacking a significant influence on the overall survival of patients <sup>180,186,187</sup>. Furthermore, BRAF inhibitors provided an improved side effect profile <sup>188,189</sup>.

Despite the initial promise of use of BRAF mutant inhibitors in metastatic melanoma, enthusiasm has been restrained due to *de novo* or secondary drug resistance. Patients with BRAFV600E mutations achieve a degree of tumor shrinkage with vemurafenib and dabrafenib treatment. However, the degree of reduction varies and only 10% of patients achieve a complete tumor regression. Furthermore, the PFS of clinical responses to these inhibitors is generally limited to 6 to 7 months, with the majority of patients relapsing within 12 months <sup>49,55</sup>. Pathway analysis of the patients with BRAFV600E mutation on the vemurafenib phase I trial demonstrated that tumor regression was not achieved unless at least 60% reduction of phosphorylated ERK was achieved <sup>184</sup>. This limited response, indicates that the resistance may be due to mechanisms that sustain ERK signaling to become insensitive to RAF inhibitors, or reduce the oncogenic dependency of the tumor for MAPK signaling by switching dependence to an alternative survival pathway <sup>190-193</sup>.

Several mechanisms conferring drug resistance exist including the acquisition of mutations that sustain the activation of ERK such as increased signaling by MAPK - activating RTKs, CRAF amplification, acquisition of activating NRAS mutations (signaling through CRAF) or MEK mutations <sup>190,192,194-200</sup>. Many of ERK dependent resistance mechanisms could be overcame by the dual BRAF and MEK inhibition since It is generally thought that inhibiting both the oncogene and its downstream effector simultaneously decreases the chance of developed resistance. Indeed, currently, the single-agent BRAF inhibition therapeutic approach in treating advanced melanoma has shifted to become

combinational with MEK inhibitors, and it has been shown to be effective with PFS of 2 years in patient with BRAFV600E mutations<sup>202-204</sup>.

Nevertheless, *In vitro* studies have shown that a subset of the BRAFV600Emelanoma cell lines resistant to PLX4032, exhibit distinct resistance mechanisms that are not ERK dependent and insensitive to MAKP inhibitors <sup>190,191,201</sup>. The mechanism of resistance to BRAF inhibitor has been associated with overexpression of receptor tyrosine kinases, like PDGFR  $\beta$  or IGF1R<sup>190,201</sup>. Additionally, *in vitro* studies illustrate that although ERK remains activated in many BRAF-inhibitor- resistant melanoma cell lines, abrogating of ERK activation using MEK inhibition did not have considerable effects on viability suggesting that an additional pathway is promoting the survival of these cells <sup>191</sup>.

Exposing BRAF-inhibitor resistant melanoma cell lines to IGF1R inhibitors caused a suppression in AKT activation but not an inhibition on MAPK activation<sup>191</sup>. This observation was followed by the confirmation that a concurrent inhibition for the IGF1R/AKT pathway and MAPK pathway significantly induces cell death <sup>191</sup>. Moreover, statistical analysis illustrated a durable activation of P70S60K and S6 in the BRAFinhibitor resistant compared to the sensitive cell lines<sup>193</sup>. Following that notion, combined triple treatment of Rapamycin (mTOR inhibitor), PX-866 (PI3K inhibitor) and PLX4720 (BRAF inhibitor) resulted in a notable death in the BRAF mutant resistant cell lines<sup>193</sup>.

Thus, this data indicates that resistance to BRAF inhibition is associated with enhanced PI3K-AKT pathway as a protective survival mechanism and provides a rationale for combinational targeting to MAPK and PI3K-AKT pathway in melanoma treatment.

Interesting, one out of five cases of melanomas that relapsed after PLX4032 treatment were correlated with overexpression of phosphorylated AKT with/or homozygous loss of PTEN 191. Moreover, PTEN loss/mutations in patient samples with BRAFV600E was associated with a trend of shorter PFS after treatment with Dabrafenib (8 months vs 1 month)<sup>205</sup>. The role of PTEN as tumor suppressor in regulating resistance to BRAF inhibitors has been demonstrated after a comparison between BRAF mutant melanoma cell lines lacking PTEN expression (PTEN) and BRAF mutant melanoma cell lines expressing (PTEN<sup>+</sup>), after treatment with BRAF inhibitors <sup>206</sup>. This study indicated that the re-introduction of PTEN into (PTEN<sup>-</sup>) cells notably increased the expression of BIM and apoptosis in response to BRAF inhibitor treatment. More importantly, the knockdown of PTEN in (PTEN<sup>+</sup>), led to the inhibition of BIM expression which was shown to be induced BRAF inhibitor treatment <sup>206</sup>. Furthermore, the co-targeting of MAPK pathway and PI3k of in (PTEN-) -BRAF mutant melanoma cell lines caused with an increase of apoptosis induction <sup>206,207</sup>. Specifically, the resistance to apoptosis after BRAF is inhibited or knocked down is mediated by AKT3 over expression in melanoma cell lines <sup>206,207</sup>. These studies propose that concurrent inhibition of the PI3K-AKT pathway could overcome the resistance to BRAF inhibitors. Taken together, this illuminates a promising addition to the combinational therapeutic approach that would combat the development of resistance after BRAF inhibition in BRAF-mutant melanoma patients.

NRAS mutations are the second most common oncogenic alteration in melanoma (15%-20%) and represent a significant clinical challenge since they are associated with more aggressive tumors and a shorter survival in early and late stage melanoma <sup>105,208</sup>. While PLX4032 decreases the activity of MEK/ERK 1/2 in BRAFV600E/K melanoma cell

lines, it increases the activity of MEK/ERK 1/2 pathway and proliferation of NRAS-mutant melanoma cell lines<sup>209,210</sup>. One possible explanation to this paradoxical effect is through the activation of CRAF by the heterodimerization with BRAF that is bound to BRAF inhibitor<sup>209-212</sup>. Identifying an effective therapeutic inhibitor for mutant RAS remains appealing, since RAS mutations are found in many aggressive malignancies. Earlier strategies were focused in targeting the farnesylation of NRAS<sup>213</sup>. Farnesylation is a critical RAS post-translational modification, that is the covalent attachment of a farnesyl pyrophosphate to the cysteine residue in the CAAX motif of RAS (C cysteine, A denotes aliphatic, aliphatic, any amino acid), catalyzed by farnesyltransferase(FT). This posttranslational modification creates a lipid hydrophobic domain that is required for RAS localization to the membranes <sup>213</sup>. FT inhibitors has been developed to obstruct farnesylation and reduce the translocation of RAS to the membrane and therefore reduce its ability to mediate the activation of its downstream effectors <sup>213</sup>. FT inhibitors has shown a promising clinical efficiency in treating patients with acute myelogenous leukemia<sup>214,215</sup>. However, no significant clinical response or anti-tumor activity was reported in NRAS mutant melanoma patients, although a significant inhibition of RAS-downstream effectors like ERK and AKT was achieved<sup>213,215-217</sup>. It has been shown that treatment of FTI inhibitors to NRAS results in lipidation by alternative modification proteins geranylgeranyltransfersases (GTTases), thus bypassing dependency on FTases <sup>88,218,220</sup>. Moreover, targeting both FTases and GTTases suffers from limiting cytotoxicity effect, since these modifications target several cellular proteins other than RAS (>100)<sup>220,221</sup>. Thus, these inhibitors will lead to prohibitive off target effect, limiting their clinical effectiveness.

Another promising approach is designing optimal GTP analogs and inhibitors that inhibits RAS function by targeting the SOS-mediated nucleotide exchange of Ras <sup>217,222,223</sup>. However, the designed compounds elicit off-target effects by hindering the normal RAS function more than the oncogenic RAS <sup>217,222,223</sup>. A better understanding of the interaction between the designed compounds with oncogenic RAS is required to implement the inhibition of RAS-nucleotide exchange as a therapeutic approach <sup>222,223</sup>. Most recently a subset of RAS mutations, specifically those Gly to Cys mutations (G12C), have been targeted with small molecules, that reduce their sensitivity to GEFs <sup>224-226</sup>.That said these inhibitors will target only a small subset of NRAS mutation in melanoma (<4.9%)<sup>227</sup>.

Currently, the therapeutic approach of targeting downstream kinases of the pathway such as MEK 1/2, has been implemented in NRAS melanomas treatment. As mentioned before, BRAF inhibitors paradoxically promote proliferation in NRAS mutant malignancy, which switched the focus on only MEK inhibitors to inhibit MAK signaling in NRAS mutant melanoma. Binimetinib, an MEK 1/2 inhibitor, is the first agent to show promising activity in NRAS melanoma, with 20% partial response and 3.7 months of PFS <sup>228</sup>. Nevertheless, this partial response demonstrates that MEK inhibitors insolation are insufficient in NRAS mutant melanomas treatment but does provide encouragement to develop MEK inhibitor-based combinational therapy. Two particular pathways implemented in such combinational approach are CDK4/Rb and PI3K/AKT. The observation of the mutations of cell cycle genes such as *CDKN2A* in melanoma at high frequency suggested CDK4 as co-target with MEK in NRAS mutant melanomas <sup>229</sup>. A combined pharmacological inhibition using trametinib (MEK inhibitor) and CDK4

palbociclib (CDK4 inhibitor) in vivo led to tumor regression and motivated the application of this combinational therapeutic approach for the treatment of NRAS-mutant melanomas <sup>229</sup>. Promising, but limited, outcomes were achieved in phase I/II clinical trials that combine Binimetinib and LEE011 (CDK4 inhibitor) treatment with partial response of 33% <sup>230</sup>. Until recently, there was a paucity in developing NRAS-mutation targeting strategies for the NRAS-mutant melanoma genetic cohort. Understanding pathways that contribute to this limited response is a long sought and an elusive goal and remained a therapeutic challenge for NRAS mutant melanomas. The dual activation aspect of mutant NRAS to both MAPK and PI3K-AKT signaling, provides a rationale for the dual inhibition of both signaling cascades to restrain tumor growth in NRAS mutant melanomas. In vitro and in vivo models are required to provide insights into the role of the PI3K-AKT pathway in NRAS melanoma, and whether it could possibly contribute to a sustained critical response in threat of NRAS-mutant melanoma. This will integrate with the data suggesting that concurrent inhibition of the PI3K-AKT pathway and MAPK pathway is a promising effective therapeutic target for human cancer harbouring RAS mutations <sup>231,232</sup>.

### 1.6 Research Objectives:

Following the notion that the activation of the PI3K-AKT pathway is an attractive target to overcome melanoma malignancy and drug resistance, an experimental study should be designed to particularly build on current BRAF/NRAS mutant melanoma models that address the PI3K-AKT as a rational therapeutic target. More importantly, this study must illustrate the extent of the oncogenic dependency of melanoma upon specific PI3K and

AKT isoforms along with PDK1(referred to as PTEN proximal genes), and how they contribute to the resistance developed to MEK/BRAF inhibitors.

Hence, the goal of my project is to investigate the genetic role of PTEN proximal genes in melanoma cell lines to educate efforts geared toward effectively targeting the PI3K-AKT pathway in melanoma for a sustainable therapeutic response. This will be accomplished by systematically ablating the expression of PI3K-AKT pathway signaling molecules proximal to PTEN in vitro via a short hair pain RNAs (shRNAs) approach (Figure 1.1). The shRNAs will be stably integrated using a lentiviral delivery system.



**Figure 1.2. Experimental Approach**. Melanoma cell lines are infected with lentiviral shRNA vectors containing shRNAs targeting the PTEN proximal signalling molecules in the PI3K-AKT pathway. The vector has shRNAs of multiple isoforms for targeting AKT and PI3K. Cells that have stably incorporated the lentiviral insert are selected and used for subsequent experiments to test the effect of shRNA-mediated target knockdown on the malignant phenotype of melanoma cells *in vitro* (figure adapted from A. DeBruyns 2015)

At the commencement of this project, there was preclinical inhibitors for multiple

components of the PI3K-AKT pathway like PI3K inhibitors, dual PI3K/mTOR inhibitors,

AKT inhibitors and mTORC1 inhibitors <sup>233,234</sup>. Each of those inhibitors was countered with

several challenges such as overlapping specificity. This is a critical challenge, since experimental data for different tumor types, indicated that the different mutations that boost the activity of the PI3K-AKT pathway, result in functional dependency on a specific range of effectors and thus sensitivity to a range of therapeutic agents over the other. For instance, some cancer cells with PTEN loss are dependent upon P100B than P110A for growth and survival <sup>235,236</sup>. Moreover, it has been previously illustrated that in many melanomas, PI3K-AKT signaling is mostly mediated by the AKT3, which represents a potential target <sup>172</sup>. Substantially, there is a great level of homology between the AKT isoforms and the PI3K isoforms, hence making isoform-specific inhibitors is challenging. Also, the overlapping downstream effectors makes it difficult to determine the efficacy of the isoform-specific pharmacological inhibition, given they're functionally similar. Implementing an shRNA-based approach would overcome this challenge by allowing assaying for a sufficient knockdown by detecting levels of proteins and mRNA. This will facilitate the efficiency evaluation of the construct inhibition process and the functional efficacy of the knockdown.

Herein I describe knocking down the following PTEN proximal proteins: the class I PI3Ks catalytic subunit isoforms (p110-  $\alpha$ , p110-  $\beta$ , P110  $\delta$ ), PDK1, and AKT isoforms (AKT1, AKT2, AKT3) in melanoma cell lines. I sought to target the PTEN proximal genes, since kinases tend to be more feasible to be targeted pharmacologically. Moreover, I illustrate assaying the expression of the proximal PTEN proteins and examining the effect of the knockdown on viability, proliferation and transformation on melanoma cell lines.

# 2. Materials and Methods:

### 2.1 Culture of Mammalian cell lines

All the cell lines were grown in humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. HEK 293T (human embryonic kidney) and A375 melanoma cell lines were cultured in DMEM (Wisent) with 10% heat inactivated Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Wisent) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (PS) (Wisent). Sbcl2, WM9 and WM793 melanoma cell lines were cultured in Tu2% medium (80% MCDB153 (Sigma), 20% Leibovitz's L-15 (Wisent), 5µg/ml insulin (Bovine (Sigma-Aldrich & cat# i6634)), 1.68 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) with 2% of heat inactivated FBS and 1% PS. MM485 was cultured in RPMI (Wisent) with 10% FBS and 1% PS. Sk-mel-2 was cultured in EMEM (Wisent) with 10% heat inactivated FBS and 1% PS.

All the cell lines were maintained in 100mm treated dishes with 10ml of media or in 150 mm tissue culture dishes with 20 ml of media and sub-cultured every 4-5 days when appropriate. When trypsinizing the cells, 0.05% (w/v) trypsin-EDTA solution (Wisent) was used for the 293T cells, the A375 cells and the MM485, and the 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA (w/v) was used for the other melanoma cell lines.

Cell line	Type of lesion	Site	Reported mutations
WM9	metastasis LN axilla	LN axilla	BRAF(V600E,) PTEN
			hem. del.
Sbcl2	primary RGP	-	NRAS(Q61R)
A-375	metastasis	-	BRAF(V600E),
	molaolaolo		(PTEN WT)
Sk-mel-2	metastasis	thiah	NRAS(Q61R) (PTEN
	molaolaolo		WT)
MM485	metastasis	LN	NRAS(Q61R),
			CDKN2A(W110Stop)

### Table 1. Melanoma cell lines and their mutational status

### 2.2 Transfections

24 hours before transfection,  $8 \times 10^6$  of 293T cells were seeded per 150 mm dish and,  $5 \times 10^6$  of 293T cells were seeded per 100 mm dish. In a 100mm dish, 16 µg of plasmid DNA (5.2 µg of PAX2 plasmid, 2.8 µg pCI-VSVG plasmid, 8 µg lentiviral vector) diluted in 550 µl of Opti-MEM (Invitrogen #11058-021) was used along with 42.6µl of PEI (polyethyleneimine, 1mg/ml). For 150mm dishes, 36 µg of plasmid DNA (11.7 µg of PAX2 plasmid, 6.3 µg pCI-VSVG plasmid, 18 µg lentiviral vector) in 1200 µl Opti-MEM was used along with 95.9 µl of PEI. The transfection mix was incubated at room temperature for 30 min the added dropwise to cultured 293T dishes after a media change. The lentiviral vectors used are Table1.

### 2.3 shRNAs in the Lentiviral vectors used

Mentioned below are the shRNAs inserted in lentiviral vectors and used to achieve knockdown for PTEN proximal genes.

Table 2. ShRNAs in the Lentiviral vectors used to target PTEN proximal genes (AKT, PDK1, shPI3KC) and the luciferase control. The number indicates shRNA used after testing for successful target knockdown (Figure 3.2)

Target	shRNA#	Generated by
Luc	-	A.DeBruyns
		2015 <sup>181</sup>
AKT (AKT1, AKT2, AKT3)	Three shRNAs for three target isoforms	K Lewis 2016 <sup>241</sup>
	arranged in the same vector.	
	For AKT1: #1 or #2	
	For AKT 2: #7 or #11	
	ForAKT3: # 13 or #16	
PDK1	#18	A.DeBruyns
		2015 <sup>181</sup>
shPI3KC	Three shRNAs for three target isoforms	K. Lewis 2015 <sup>241</sup>
	arranged in the same vector.	
	For PIK3CA: #30 or #32	
	For PIK3CB: #34 or #36	
	For PIK3CD: # 39 or #41	

# 2.4 Lentivirus Titration-TurboRFP Positive colonies

This titration was performed as explained in pTRIPz technical manual with minor modifications<sup>237</sup>. On Day 1,  $5 \times 10^4$  293T cells were seeded per well in 24-well dish (6

wells for each viral preparation) in 500µl/well of regular media. The dish was pre-coated with poly-DL-lysine as per product information (Sigma #P9011). On Day 2, the media was changed with 225µl / containing 8 µg/ml polybrene. Virus stocks were thawed and 100µl of 5-fold dilutions of each were prepared in a 96 well plate, with dilutions ranging from 5<sup>-1</sup> to 5<sup>-5</sup> fold. Then 25 µl from each viral dilution was transferred to the 24 well destination plate containing 293T cells and last well was left as uninfected control with 25 µl of regular growth media added. Cultures were incubated for 24 hours at 37 °C. Then gently, 1ml of media (DMEM with serum) containing doxycycline (1µg/ml) was added to each well and incubated for 72 hours. Turbo RFP expressing colonies of cells were counted under a fluorescence microscope. Each multi-cell colony was counted as 1 transduced cell, as the cells will be dividing over 72hours culture period. The following formula was used to calculate the viral titer = # of TurboRFP positive colonies counted × dilution factors ×40=#TU/ml (transducing unit/ml). Then an average of the calculated titers from all the countable wells was calculated to get the final viral titer.

#### 2.5 Lentivirus Titration- Puromycin-Resistant colonies

To titer virus by the puromycin selection, on Day 1,  $1.5 \times 10^5 293T$  cells were seeded to each well of poly-DL-lysine coated 6-well plates. On Day 2, 2ml 5-fold serial dilutions of virus stocks were prepared in DMEM (with serum) containing 8µg/ml of polybrene [ranging from 5<sup>-2</sup> to 5<sup>-6</sup>]. After removing the media from the cells in the 6-well plate, 1 ml of each serial dilution was added on the cells, leaving one well to have just polybrene-DMEM as uninfected control. On day 3, the media was changed with fresh DMEM (with serum). On day 4, media was replaced by DMEM containing puromycin at 4µg/ml and
incubated for 7-9 days to allow puromycin-resistant colonies to grow, with replacing the media every 2-4 days with puromycin containing media. Cells were washed in 1X PBS, fixed with zinc formalin fixative (Sigma, Z2902) for 1 hour, and then stained with 0.1% crystal violet for 30 minutes, followed by two rinses with 1X PBS. Then plates were left to dry overnight, and crystal violet stained colonies were counted in the following day. Colonies were counted using cell counter plugin in the image J software. The lentiviral titer was calculated using the following formula: colony number per well by the dilution factor (TU/ml). An average of calculated titers from all the countable was calculated to get the final viral titer.

### 2.6 Lentivirus infection

Infections were done at specific MOIs for cytotoxicity issues. The number of TUs required were calculated as: MOI X #cells to be infected. Infection were performed at  $37^{\circ}$ C overnight with polybrene concentrations 4-8 µg/ml as above. The next day, the media was changed and replaced with fresh regular growth media. Two days post infection, infected cells were selected by adding puromycin to the regular growth media at 2-4µg/ml for at least 4 days.

## 2.7 Doxycycline Treatment

The expression of the shRNAs in the pTRIPz -shRNA cell lines were induced by the treatment of doxycycline 1µg/ml. Every two days, the doxycycline. Containing media was changed during the induction period.

#### 2.8 Colony formation assay of cells

Cells were seeded from 100-500 cells/well in 6-well plates in a triplicate experimental design (3 wells doxycycline treated and 3 wells untreated controls). The doxycycline treatment (1µg/ml) was done in the following day. Cells were incubated at 37°C for 7-10 days until cells in the control wells form sufficiently large colonies. Cells were fixed, stained with 0.1% crystal violet and counted as above.

### 2.9 Proliferation assays

The melanoma cell lines were seeded in 12-well dishes in triplicate (10000 cells/well or 25 000 cells/well), such that there is a plate for each day. The following day, media was changed with a doxycycline containing media (1µg/ml) and media (±doxycycline) was changed every other day. For cell counting assay, cells were trypsinized and counted using a hemocytometer at the indicated time.

For IncuCyte® live-cell analysis assays, the cell lines were seeded in a triplicate experimental design in 96 well plate at 500 to 1000 cells per well, and the doxycycline treatment was applied on the next day. The IncuCyte® ZOOM 2016 software captured images every 4hours to calculate the % confluency of well over a period of 7 days <sup>238</sup>.

## 2.10 Cell lysis and protein quantification

PLC lysis buffer (50 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 10 % glycerol (v/v), 1% Triton X-100 (v/v), 1 mM EGTA, 1.5 mM MgCl 2, 10 mM NaF, and 10 mM Na 4 P 2 O 7, Aprotinin, Leupeptin, and Pepstatin at 1  $\mu$ g/mL, 1 mM PMSF, 1 mM orthovanadate) was used to lyse cells. A375-derived cells were washed with cold PBS twice, and incubated for 20 minutes on ice in the presence of 500 µl of lysis buffer. The dish was occasionally tapped to loosen the cells from the plate and a cell scraper was used to collect the cells in the lysis buffer into microtube. The Sbcl2 cell lines were trypsinized and collected in 15ml tubes then rinsed once with 1XPBS. After aspirating the PBS, the pellets were resuspended with 100µl lysis buffer, and then rocked at 4°C for 30 minutes. Lysates were cleared by centrifugation at 16100g at 4°C. The supernatant was collected in another tube and stored in the -80 freezer until protein quantification assay. The protein concentration assay was done using the BCA protein assay kit (#CA82601-004).

#### 2.11 Immunoblotting assay

The protein samples were prepared in 1X Laemmli buffer (67 mM Tris pH 6.8, 10% v/v glycerol, 1.25% w/v SDS, 0.0025% w/v bromophenol blue and 2.5% v/v 2-mercaptoethanol) at 45-60µg of protein per well for loading on to the gel. Then protein samples were boiled at 100 °C for 5 minutes before loading. The protein sample were run in 10% acrylamide SDS-PAGE, and then transferred onto a PVDF membrane in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris base, 192 mM Glycine) containing 20% methanol. Transfers were run at 400mA for 2 hours. The membranes were blocked using 5% milk-TBS-T (TBS-T: 50 mM Tris base, 150 mM NaCl and 0.05% Tween-20) for 1 hour at room temperature. Following that, blots were incubated in primary antibody overnight at 4 °C. The primary antibodies were diluted in 5% BSA-TBS-T or 5% milk-TBS-T. The primary antibodies used, and their dilutions were:

PI3Kinase p110α (Cell Signalling #4249, 1:500), PI3Kinase p110β (Cell Signalling #3011, 1:500), PI3Kinase p110δ (Santa Cruz #sc-7176, 1:1000), PDK1 (Cell Signalling #3062 1:1000), AKT1 (Cell Signalling #2938, 1:1000), AKT2 (Cell Signalling #3063, 1:1000), AKT3 (Cell Signalling #8018, 1:1000),  $\alpha$ -Tubulin (Sigma #T5168, 1:8000), and GADPH (cell signalling #2118, 1:1000).

The next day, membranes were washed with TBS-T three times for 5 minutes at room temperature then incubated in horseradish peroxidase (HRP)- linked secondary antibody at a dilution of 1:3000 to 1:10000 in 5% milk-TBS-T for 1 hour. The secondary antibodies used were either anti-rabbit (GE Healthcare #NA934) or anti-mouse (GE Healthcare #NA931). Following the incubation, the blots were washed with TBS-T three times for 5 minutes at room temperature and detected on X-Ray film using Amersham ECL Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Healthcare #RPN2106).

#### 2.12 Microscopy

Cellular fluorescence was observed using a Leica DM IL LED inverted microscope with X-cite series 120 Q UV source. Photos were captured using the QICAM Fast 1394 camera attachment (Q IMAGING) and filter sets from CHROMA.

## 2.13 BrdU cycle analysis and Flow cytometry

Melanoma cell lines were left untreated or were treated with doxycycline (1µg/ml) for 5-8 days. Plates were seeded to become sub confluent just before the addition of BrdU (control untreated and doxycycline treated), the media is replaced with a fresh media containing 10µM BrdU, and the plate is incubated for 4-6 hours. Then the media was

removed and transferred to a 15 ml falcon tube, and the plates were washed with 1XPBS and collected by trypsinization and added to the same falcon tube. The tubes were spun at 1500rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C, washed with cold 1XPBS and spun at 1500rpm for 5 minutes. The pellets were resuspended in 100µl cold 1XPBS then fixed by slowly adding 1ml of 70% EtOH. Then cells were stored at -20 up to 7 days until used.

Cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 1500 rpm for 10 min at 10 °C and washed with 1XPBS. The DNA was denatured by slowly adding 1ml 2M HCl while vertexing and incubation at for 30 minutes at room temperature. Then, the cells were pelleted, and acid neutralized twice by resuspending in 1ml 0.1M Sodium Borate pH 8.5. Cells were pelleted, resuspended with PBS-T, 0.5% BSA (1xPBS, 0.5% BSA, 0.2% Tween-20), then pelleted, resuspended with 20µl of FITC Mouse Anti-BrdU (BD Pharmingen, 51-33284X) and incubated for 20 minutes in the dark at room temperature. After adding 1ml 1XPBS, cells were pelleted and resuspended in 1ml Pl staining solution (25µg/ml propidium iodide, 0.2mg/ml RNAseA, 40mM sodium citrate, 1% 51 triton-x 100). Flow cytometry was done using the BD FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences) and analysis FACS Diva Software.

# 3. Results

## 3.1 ShRNA triaging using a luciferase reporter system

Initial efforts of this project were dedicated toward selecting successful shRNA candidates that could effectively and specifically knockdown each of the PTEN proximal gene targets, and this was approached by the previous graduate student Angeline de Bruyns. Isoformspecific shRNAs were screened for efficacy and specificity using a dual luciferase reporter system. The dual luciferase reporter system is a method developed to efficiently triage shRNAs using the psiCHECK luciferase reporter system <sup>239</sup>. This system uses a plasmid expressing two transcripts independently, one encoding Renilla luciferase and one encoding Firefly luciferase (Figure 3.1A). cDNA target sequences are cloned downstream of the Renilla luciferase stop codons and upstream of a polyadenylation (polyA) sequence. Therefore, Renilla luciferase and the target cDNA are transcribed as one mRNA transcript. For efficient mRNA translation, a lariat structure must be formed between the 5'-cap and the polyA-tail of the transcript <sup>240,162</sup>. Therefore, the shRNAinduced cleavage of the target cDNA sequence prevents efficient translation of the Renilla luciferase upstream, which can be quantified. Firefly luciferase activity is used as a transfection control, as the plasmid contains a firefly luciferase gene, regulated by a different promoter and thus expressed independently of the Renilla luciferase gene.





Because firefly and Renilla luciferases use different substrates and reaction conditions

for bioluminescence, the relative levels of Renilla over firefly luciferase can be used as a

surrogate for shRNA mediated targeting of the target cDNA. Also, the psiCHECK plasmid

is Gateway-system compatible, allowing for the rapid generation of plasmids having PTEN

Proximal genes of interest. Hence, after the generation of the pTREG-shRNA vectors

their efficacy was rapidly assessed, and successful shRNAs was selected.

HEK 293-T cells were co-infected with the psiCheck2 reporter plasmid and an shRNA expression plasmid (shTest). The shTest plasmid contains the shRNA cloned into an miRNA-30 cassette. The advantage of embedding the shRNA sequence in a miRNA-30 cassette is that the shRNA can be stably expressed from any RNA polymerase II



Figure 3.2. The results of the Luciferase assay triaging for shRNAs targeting PTEN proximal genes. To test for specific knockdown, HEK 293-T cells were coinfected with the shTest plasmid psiCheck2 plasmid contain cDNA of targets. Colors of the bars for the relative activity represent the specific reporter each shRNA is intended to target with arrows to indicate group of successful shRNA candidates for each target. (A)Luciferase assay readout of PI3K shRNA specificity. (B) Luciferase assay readout of AKT shRNA. (C) Luciferase assay readout of PTEN and PDK1 shRNA specificity. Error bars represent relative standard error. (Figure modified from A. DeBruyns,2015, arrows indicate selected shRNAs that were used in this study)

promoter, permitting expression in a constitutive, inducible, or tissue specific manner<sup>163,164</sup>. Additionally, the miRNA is placed in the same transcriptional unit as eCFP (enhanced cyan fluorescent protein) to permit visual tracking of the expressed shRNA. The preliminary rounds of luciferase assay triaging identified the effective shRNA candidates at targeting their mRNA transcripts. The most effective shRNAs were selected for a second round of luciferase assays to test for specificity within similar groups of targets. For example, AKT shRNAs were cross tested against all of the AKT target reporter plasmids. In a like manner, the PI3K shRNAs were tested against all of the PI3K Target reporter plasmids. Thus, the luciferase reporter assays allowed identification of successful shRNA candidates, specific for each PTEN proximal gene of interest (Figure 3.2)<sup>181</sup>.

#### 3.2 PTEN proximal genes Knockdown in Melanoma cell lines

#### 3.2.1 Inducible shRNA delivery system

After the identification of shRNA candidates that could efficiently target each PTEN proximal gene of interest, two types of lentiviral vectors with the targeting shRNAs were constructed using Gateway recombination technology. One lentiviral vector allows constitutive expression of the shRNA (pLEG lentiviral vector), and the other permits inducible expression of the shRNA (pTREG lentiviral vector)<sup>181</sup>. Since the PI3K-AKT pathway regulates cell viability, the knockdown of pathway components is predicted to induce apoptosis <sup>123,133</sup>. Using constitutively expressed shRNAs was unideal to use for studying genes in the PTEN proximal genes since, as supported by previous research, the PI3K-AKT pathway mediates drug resistance by decreasing susceptibility to

apoptosis<sup>191,193,231,232</sup>. Using drug-inducible knockdown vectors (pTREG) can provide a means to control shRNA expression and to more easily monitor lethality of PTEN proximal gene knockdown. pTREG is derived from a pTRIPz-derived vector and harbours a Tet-On inducible shRNA cassette. In this vector, the shRNA expression is controlled by the reverse tetracycline transactivator (rtTA) binding to the TetO operator sequence of the Tet-responsive element (TRE) and this binding requires the presence of tetracycline or tetracycline analogue, like doxycycline <sup>239,219</sup>. Moreover, pTREG encodes for a selectable marker (puromycin resistance) and fluorophore (TurboRFP), with the latter being on the same transcript as the miR30-embedde shRNA. Thus, permitting the ability to visually monitor shRNA expression. Assessment of the pTREG lentiviral expression system using one shRNA to AKT2 (AKT2, shRNA #11) confirmed inducible knockdown of the target <sup>181</sup>. Briefly, AKT2 protein knockdown using constitutive or inducible vectors was compared directly (Figure 3.3B) using a luciferase assay (transducing simultaneously with the psiCHECK plasmid) or a western blot assay<sup>181</sup>. Both lentiviral expression systems produced suitable knockdown of the target specifically. As expected the constitutive shRNA produced slightly greater knockdown, however the inducible system produced increased knockdown with longer doxycycline treatment.



#### Figure 3.3. pLEG and pTREG shRNA-mediated knockdown of targeted genes.

After identifying successful shRNA candidates, two lentiviral vectors of the targeting shRNAs were constructed using gateway recombination technology, pLEG and pTREG. (A) Both lentiviral vectors have puromycin selection markers. The pLEG shRNA allows constitutive expression of the shRNA driven by the CMV promoter. pTREG is pTRIPz-derived and allows a doxycycline-regulated expression of the shRNA under control of the Tet-responsive element (TRE). (B) Comparison between the AKT2 protein knockdown in a constitutive or inducible manner using a luciferase assay or a western blot assay. (Figure taken from A. DeBruyns 2015) 181

#### 3.2.2 Infecting the melanoma cell lines and knockdown confirmation

Armed with specific shRNAs, I set out to determine the contribution of the PTEN proximal genes to melanoma cell viability and proliferation. At the onset of my project, I had at my disposal four pTREG-shRNA lentiviral vectors, which are: shLUC, shPDK1 and two vectors that simultaneously targeted PIK3C and AKT family members: shPIK3C (a vector that simultaneously targeted PIK3C (A, B, and D)) and shAKT (a vector that simultaneously targeted (1,2,3)) (Table.2). Simultaneous knockdown of all AKT or PI3K isoforms was chosen to readily identify which gene/isoform was required for melanoma cell viability or proliferation. p110- $\gamma$  was not detected in the melanoma cell lines (or even 293T cell) tested<sup>181</sup> and as a result PIK3CG-shRNAs were excluded from this study.

Lentiviral toxicity and inadequate target knockdown were previously encountered when using the pTREG-shRNA system in melanoma cell lines <sup>181</sup>. Thus, I started my project by determining the suitable viral titer to efficiently infect the melanoma cell lines and produce sufficient knockdown of PTEN proximal genes. Lentiviruses were titrated using RFP expression as a surrogate following a 72hour induction with doxycycline treatment. This method is both efficient and, in comparison to tittering using drug selection, rapid <sup>237</sup>. After calculating the lentivirus titers, individual melanoma cell lines were infected with a range of MOI. The MOI that lead to a minimal cytotoxicity and highest selection after using puromycin treatment was determined. Typically, I found that MOI of 2 IU/cell balanced low toxicity with sufficient knockdown of targets.

To furtherelucidate the underpinnings of the PI3K-AKT pathway in melanoma, I focused on melanoma cell lines derived from the two most common mutations, BRAFV600E and NRAS Q61R, found in two cutaneous melanoma cell lines Sbcl2 (NRAS

Q61R and BRAF Wild type) and A-375 (BRAFV600E, PTEN Wild type) <sup>29</sup>. I started this project with the desire of producing an effective knockdown with the pTREG inducible system on multiple melanoma cell lines derived from the common cutaneous melanoma mutations (NRAS Q61R and BRAFV600E) (Table.1). Unfortunately, I encountered challenges during the lentiviral infection of the melanoma cell lines, such as cytotoxicity or slow proliferation rate following the infection. I performed an experiment to investigate the effect of the lentiviral infections on the melanoma cell lines using a lentiviral construct that expresses CFP immediately upon integration into the recipient cell's genome. This allowed me to comprehend if the cytotoxicity is because of unsuccessful infection (or construct integration) in the melanoma cells, leading to negative puromycin selection. Figure (3.4) shows pictures of the melanoma cell lines 72 hr post infection and confirms the cytotoxic effect of infecting melanoma cell lines and the lack of successful CFP expression. Sbcl-2 cells had the least cytotoxic effect and showed successful CFP expression. Following that notion, the Sbcl-2 cells were infected with MOI of 2 IU/cell, selecting few colonies to grow for up to 4 weeks because of the slow proliferation rate post infection.



**Figure 3.4. CFP expression in infected melanoma cell lines.** Fluorescence microscopy images at 10x magnification of multiple melanoma cell lines infected with CFP lentivirus at different multiplicity of infections, 3 days post infection.

A375 and Sbcl2 stably expressing Dox-inducible pTREG vectors targeting PDK1, PIK3C(A,B,D), AKT(1,2,3) or luciferase as a control (shLuc) were treated with doxycycline for a minimum five days, after which lysates were derived and analyzed by western blot (Figure 3.5). The knockdown more attainable for some isoforms by showing either a complete knockdown or reduction in expression. For instance, P110D was the only isoform of the PI3K to be knocked down in the A375. On the other hand, Sbcl-2 cells



showed a reduction in the expression of the three isoforms of P110. A complete knock



down of AKT1 was shown in both Sbcl-2 and A375 derived cell lines, and differentially reduced levels of AKT2 and AKT3 in both cell lines, with a remarkable reduction of AKT2 in A375 and a notable reduction of AKT3 in Sbcl-2. Additionally, (Figure 3.5) illustrates a detectable reduction in the expression of PDK1 in both cell lines. The western blots show that the knockdown of each PTEN proximal genes, whether in a specific isoform or in multiple isoforms, is achievable in melanoma cell lines using pTREG-shRNA infection.

The Turbo RFP expression, regulated in a doxycycline inducible manner, was seen by fluorescence microscopy, visually confirming the shRNA expression before proceeding with western blotting (Figure 3.6). Essentially, (Figure 3.6) reveals higher RFP intensity in A375 derived cell lines than Sbcl-2 derived cell lines, like due to faster proliferation and a tendency to clump.





A) pictures of the A375-derived cell lines at 5<sup>th</sup> day of doxycycline treatment.

B) Pictures of the Sbcl-2-derived cell lines at 5<sup>th</sup> day of doxycycline treatment.

Together, these data illustrate success in ablating the expression of PTEN proximal genes using PTREG-shRNA lentiviruses in two melanoma cell lines: A375 and Sbcl-2.

# 3.2.3 Proliferation and viability assays of pTREG-ShRNA derived cell lines

The two potential phenotypes that I sought to investigate, after the validation of the knockdown, were proliferation and viability. Proliferation assays were quantified by relative cell number or confluency per well. The shRNA-cell lines derived from Sbcl-2 and A375 were seeded at 10000 – 25000 cells/well and treated the next day with doxycycline over 5-7 days. To determine the dynamics of cell proliferation I made use of Incucyte<sup>™</sup> technology, which allows one to assess various cell parameters, in near real time over the course of 7 days. Here, images were taken every four hours and cell confluency was measured as a surrogate of cell growth and proliferation. shLUC control cells were included to assess any effects due to shRNA expression or doxycycline toxicity <sup>48,70,81</sup>. In addition, each cell population was compared to an untreated control to examine the effect of the knockdown of the PTEN proximal protein.

Analysis of confluency, cell count, and the images taken demonstrate a reduction in the proliferation of the A375 derived cell lines in response to shRNA induction (Figures 3.7, 3.8). Importantly, no toxicity was observed in control cells (shLuc-cells) at the concentration of doxycycline used and decreased cell number or cell confluency starts to be noticeable after 3 days.

On the other hand, the Sbcl2-doxy cell lines demonstrated a decrease in proliferation comparing to the Sbcl2-non doxy that is leveling off (Figure 3.10). This decline in growth pattern is produced in a similar pattern between the cell counting data (Figure 3.11) and the cell confluency measurements.

Additionally, pictures comparing doxycycline treated and non-treated cells suggested a slowdown in proliferation more than cell death, which can be observed under

the microscope by the rounding and the shrinkage in the cell's morphology followed by detachment (Figure 3.12), or by using trypan blue in counting (data not shown).

To determine whether these shorter-term proliferation reductions correlate with differences in colony forming ability, I performed colony formation assays. Melanoma cell lines were seeded at low density (500-1000 cells/100mm dish), treated with doxycycline for two weeks to induce shRNA expression, fixed, crystal violet stained and quantified for colony formation.

Interestingly, few colonies were observed in the doxycycline treated A375 and Sbcl2, in stark contrast with the non-treated doxycycline wells (Figure 3.13). However, the Sbcl2 colonies were too small and not clearly stained using crystal violet, since they have narrower-appearing morphology

Taken together, these results demonstrate that the knockdown of PTEN proximal genes negatively affects the proliferation of two melanoma cell lines with different genetic status, but moreso in the Sbcl2 line.



**Figure3.7. Confluency analysis using the incucyte for A375-pTREG derived cell lines.** (A) Confluency curves of A375-shluc cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (B) Confluency curves of A375-shAKT cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (C) Confluency curves of A375-shPDK1 cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (D) Confluency curves of A375-shPI3K cell lines -/+ doxycycline. The data is representative of 2 experiments in triplicates, and confluency measurement for 164 hours. (E) Incucyte pictures of A375-pTREG derived cell lines -/+ doxycycline after 144 hours, under 10X magnification.



**Figure 3.8. proliferation assay using cell counting for A375-pTREG derived cell lines.** (A) proliferation curves of A375-shluc cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (B) proliferation curves of A375-shAKT cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (C) proliferation curves of A375-shPDK1 cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (D) proliferation curves of A375-shPl3K cell lines -/+ doxycycline. This data is representative of 1 experiment in triplicates, and cell counting measurements for 120 hours.



**Figure 3.10. Confluency analysis using the incucyte for Sbcl2-pTREG derived cell lines.** (A) proliferation curves of Sbcl2-shluc cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (B) proliferation curves of Sbcl2-shAKT cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (C) proliferation curves of Sbcl2-shPDK1 cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (D) proliferation curves of Sbcl2-shPI3K cell lines -/+ doxycycline. The data is representative of 1 experiment in triplicates, and confluency measurement for 144 hours.



**Figure 3.11.** Proliferation assay using the cell counting for Sbcl2-pTREG derived cell lines. (A) proliferation curves of Sbcl2-shluc cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (B) proliferation curves of Sbcl2-shAKT cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (C) proliferation curves of Sbcl2-shPDK1 cell lines -/+ doxycycline. (D) proliferation curves of Sbcl2-shPI3K cell lines -/+ doxycycline. This data is representative of 1 experiment in triplicates, and cell counting measurements for 5 days.



**Figure 3.12. Pictures of Sbcl2-pTREG derived cell lines after induction.** Pictures of Sbcl2-pTREG derived cell lines -/+ doxycycline after 96 hours.



**Figure 3.13. Colony formation assay for pTREG-derived cell lines.** (A) Representative images and quantification of A375-pTREG derived cell lines cultured in -/+ doxycycline for over 7 days. (B) Representative images and quantification of Sbcl2-pTREG derived cell lines cultured in -/+ doxycycline for over 10 days. The data is representative of one experiment in triplicates.

## 3.2.4 Cell cycle analysis of pTREG-ShRNA derived cell lines

Inhibition of PTEN proximal gene expression resulted in a decrease in cell proliferation in two melanoma cell lines. Thus, I assessed the effect on the cell cycle using BrdU incorporation and DNA content analysis via flow cytometry. This procedure can resolve the cell cycle phases in a given cell population into G<sub>0</sub>/G<sub>1</sub>, S, and G<sub>2</sub> /M by measuring BrdU incorporation. As expected, doxycycline and control shRNA expression had no effect on cells by themselves. Additionally, similar cell cycle profiles were seen in untreated cells harboring inducible shRNAs to PTEN proximal genes. When shRNAs were induced, the S-phase population of the Sbcl2 -pTREG derived cells was decreased comparing to their non-treated version (Figure 3.15). This decrease was more prevalent in Sbcl2 cells expressing shPl3K and ShAKT. This reduction in S-phase was coupled with the increase in the G1-phase population of doxycycline-treated cell lines. Thus, these results suggest that the knock down of PTEN proximal genes in Sbcl-2 can cause a G1 cell cycle arrest.

# No Doxy

# Doxy



Figure 3.14. Effect of the pTREG-mediated Knockdown of PTEN proximal genes on cell cycle progression of SbcI-2 cells. BrdU cell cycle analysis of SbcI2-pTREG derived cell lines treated with doxycycline for 7 days. The cells were pulsed with BrdU along with the untreated cell lines for 5 hours. Boxes denote  $G_0/G_1$ , S-Phase and G2/M. This data is representative of one experiment.

# 4. Discussion

The work described here illustrates the application of pTREG lentiviral vector to knock down PTEN proximal genes in melanoma cell lines. This method successfully produced an inducible knockdown in two melanoma cell lines with different genetic profiles, A375 (NRAS wildtype, BRAFV600E, PTEN Wild type) and Sbcl-2 (NRAS Q61R, BRAF wildtype, PTEN Wild type). We previously used a unique and rapid shRNA triaging method that consist of a dual-luciferase reporter assay to identify individual shRNAs that would specifically knockdown intended targets in vitro. The Dankort lab's pTREG-system allowed the co-expression of three shRNAs from a single doxycycline inducible cassette, to knockdown all expressed members of PTEN proximal gene families (PIK3C, PDK, AKT) in melanoma cell lines. I optimized infections to reduce cytotoxicity of pTREGlentiviruses by producing lentiviruses in a serum-free medium, altering the MOI, and using optimal doxycycline doses. These optimizations reduced infection associated toxicities that our lab had observed in the past. Instead, the knockdown in melanoma cell lines could be enhanced by prolonging the doxycycline treatment period and changing media frequently (every 2 days).

After implementing these changes, this study answered fundamental questions surroundingoncogenic dependency on the PI3K-AKT pathway in melanoma in vitro. This was examined using the inducible knockdown system that permits timed induction of shRNA expression. Moreover, the non-treated shRNA infected cell lines served as a suitable control for the experiments. These results suggested oncogenic dependency on the PI3K-AKT pathway in melanoma derived from NRAS Q61R or BRAFV600E. This was

evident from a decline in cell growth and proliferation after the induction of the knockdown of the PTEN proximal genes. Furthermore, this phenotype is supported by repeated presentations in confluency and cell count growth curves. In particular, the decline in cell growth was remarkable in the doxycycline induced pTREG-Sbcl-2 cell lines.

Since the PI3K-AKT pathway phosphorylates downstream effectors that regulate survival and proliferation, the reduction in cell growth could be cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, or both. It is important to note that morphologically I observed very few cells showing signs of apoptosis (rounded, non-refractile, or floating cells were not seen in increased numbers upon shRNA induction). Moreover, cell counting after staining with trypan blue did not suggest cell death. This study suggests that this decrease in cell number is most likely a result of indication of a cell cycle arrest in the G1-phase. Significantly, this phenotype was prevalent after the knockdown of all the studied PTEN proximal genes in Sbcl-2. This melanoma cell line represents a subset of melanoma patients with NRAS Q61mutation, which is 88.1% of NRAS melanoma patients <sup>227</sup>. Indeed, the existence of NRAS Q61R mutation causes the overactivation of MAPK pathway and the PI3K-AKT pathways by hyperactivated RAS. The occurrence of the cell cycle arrest after knocking down the PTEN proximal genes suggests a proliferation dependency that is more biased toward the PI3K-AKT pathway.

Overall, this work contributes to the growing body of research around the role of the PI3K-AKT pathway in melanoma. Furthermore, these results pinpoint potential targets for NRAS mutant derived melanoma, and it rationalizes engaging the PTEN proximal protein inhibitors with current MEK inhibitors therapeutic approaches.

## 5. Future directions

Now that the resultant phenotype knocking down PTEN proximal genes has been pinpointed to be cell cycle arrest in Sbcl-2 cells, it must be interrogated whether this cycle arrest is reversible, or whether it is senescence. In other words, the next question to examine is if this phenotype will perpetuate after the withdrawal of the doxycycline treatment. This could be examined preliminarily by growth curves that compare the proliferation of the doxycycline treated Sbcl-2-shRNA cell lines after a media change with regular media, with the same cell line with maintained doxycycline treatment. Additionally, the expression of the negative cell cycle regulators such as p15<sup>ink4b</sup> and p21<sup>cip1</sup> could be examined as one of the hallmarks of senescence. Likewise, the possibility of apoptosis appearing as a later phenotype must be interrogated after a prolonged induction period. Longer term viability assays, coupled with biochemical markers of apoptosis (caspase 3 cleavage, DNA fragmentation, TUNEL staining, vital dye loss) can be conducted to determine if this is the case. These results will be necessary to more fully explore the biological phenotype of inhibition in this system. Additionally, it would be interesting to determine whether particular isoforms of the genes targeted here are responsible or individual PTEN proximal genes are required for cell cycle progression. This can be addressed through expression of single shRNAs or pairwise combination. The use of specific pharmacological inhibitors could also determine isoform requirements, although this requires isoform specific inhibition. Finally, in-depth transcriptional analysis will be informative in determining specific downstream effecters of the PTEN proximal genes that are essential for the cell cycle arrest in Sbcl2. This could provide more thorough

understanding of which stream of the AKT-regulated pathways is more likely to be affected by the induced knockdown.

My results raised further questions regarding how PTEN proximal genes could be leveraged therapeutically. For instance, future work could be geared toward determining how PTEN proximal genes contribute to acquired resistance after targeting MAPK pathway in melanoma. This could be examined by targeting the PTEN proximal genes concurrently with BRAF and/or MEK inhibitors in NRAS mutant melanoma which are resistant to BRAF and MEK inhibition, starting with Sbcl-2. These cell lines can be selected after chronic treatment with MEK or BRAF inhibitors <sup>78</sup>.Hence, with the knockdown of each PTEN proximal gene in melanoma cell line resistant to BRAF and MEK inhibition of the MAPK inhibition. This will improve our understanding to the contribution of the PTEN proximal genes to development of acquired resistance in melanoma after MAPK inhibition and determining which combination of MAPK and PI3K-AKT targeting drugs will be prioritized for clinical testing.

# 6. Conclusion:

Overall, the work presented in this thesis sought to further our understanding of the role of the PI3K-AKT pathway in BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> or NRAS Q61R - driven melanoma. In particular, a unique pTREG shRNA lentiviral system has been introduced into melanoma cell lines to target PTEN proximal genes and determine the effect of the knockdown on their proliferation and survival. In this work, I started with the previously identified shRNA plasmids that has been tested to be successful at effectively and specifically targeting PTEN proximal genes in the PI3K-AKT pathway using a dual luciferase reporter system. This has been further verified by constitutive expression of the shRNAs using the pLEGshRNA lentiviral plasmid. After optimizing conditions for the induction of the pTREG shRNA expression, like the doxycycline treatment and the appropriate virus titer, I validated that the successful shRNA pTREG candidates at my disposal were functional in ablating their intended PTEN proximal genes in two melanoma cell lines, Sbcl-2 and A375. Furthermore, I identified that the knockdown of the PTEN proximal genes causes a decrease in the proliferation of both cell lines, which are derived from BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> or NRAS Q61R. More importantly, this phenotype was interpreted uniquely to be cell cycle arrest in Sbcl-2. This has been validated using cell cycle flow cytometry analysis, since there was increased cell population in the G<sup>1</sup> phase in comparison to the little cell population in the S phase. Since Sbcl-2 presents a population of melanoma patients with a common NRAS activating mutation, my findings are encouraging to continue exploration of the potential of the targeting the PI3K-AKT pathway in NRAS mutant melanoma patients. This would aid in understanding the limited response and therapeutic challenges experienced with the current MEK inhibitors implemented in NRAS melanomas treatment.

# 7. Bibliography

- 1.Gray-Schopfer V, Wellbrock C, and R Marais. "Melanoma Biology and New Targeted Therapy." Nature (2007); 445 (7130) 851-57
- 2.Brenner M and Vincent J H. "The Protective Role of Melanin Against UV Damage in Human Skin." Photochemistry and Photobiology (2007). 84(3): 539–49.
- 3.Chang A E, Karnell L H & Menck H R . "The National Cancer Data Base report on cutaneous and noncutaneous melanoma: a summary of 84,836 cases from the past decade." The American College of Surgeons Commission on Cancer and the American Cancer Society. Cancer(2000), 83(8):1664-1678
- 4.Saito E & Hori M. "Melanoma skin cancer incidence rates in the world from the Cancer Incidence in Five Continents XI". Jpn J Clin Oncol (2018); 48(12), 1113-1114.
- 5.Melanoma Research Alliance, Melanoma Statistics (2020). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.curemelanoma.org/about-melanoma/melanoma-statistics-2/">https://www.curemelanoma.org/about-melanoma/melanoma-statistics-2/</a>
- 6.World Health organization. Ultraviolet (UV) radiation and skin cancer (2017). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/ultraviolet-(uv)-radiation-and-skin-cancer">https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/ultraviolet-(uv)-radiation-and-skin-cancer</a>
- 7.Mohan SV, Chang AL. Advanced basal cell carcinoma: epidemiology and therapeutic innovations. Curr Dermatol Rep (2014); 3(1):40-45.
- 8.American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts and Figures (2020).Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/annual-cancer-facts-and-figures/2020/cancer-facts-and-figures-2020.pdf">https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-figures-2020.pdf</a>.
- 9.Jerant A F, Johnson J T, Sheridan C D & Caffre T. J. Early detection and treatment of skin cancer. Am Fam Physician (2000); 62(2), 357-368, 375-356, 381-352

- 10.Chin L, G Merlino, and RA DePinho, Malignant melanoma: modern black plague and genetic black box. Genes Dev (1998); 12(22): p. 3467-81.
- 11.American Cancer Society. Melanoma Survival Rates: Melanoma Survival Statistics (2020). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cancer.org/cancer/melanoma-skin-cancer/detection-diagnosis-staging/survival-rates-for-melanoma-skin-cancer-by-stage.html">https://www.cancer.org/cancer/melanoma-skin-cancer/detection-diagnosis-staging/survival-rates-for-melanoma-skin-cancer-by-stage.html</a>
- 12.Lawrence MS, P Stojanov, CH Mermel, JT Robinson, LA Garraway, TR Golub, M Meyerson, SB Gabriel, ES Lander, and G Getz, Discovery and saturation analysis of cancer genes across 21 tumour types. Nature (2014); 505(7484);495-501.
- 13.Pleasance ED, Cheetham RK, Stephens PJ, et al. A comprehensive catalogue of somatic mutations from a human cancer genome. *Nature* (2010);463(7278):191-196.
- 14.Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA Jr, Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. Science (2013);339(6127):1546-1558.
- 15.Lomas J, P Martin-Duque, M Pons, and M Quintanilla, The genetics of malignant melanoma. Front Biosci (2008); 13:5071-93.
- 16.Miller AJ and MC Mihm, Jr., Melanoma. N Engl J Med (2006); 355(1): p. 51-65.
- 17.Michaloglou C, LC Vredeveld, WJ Mooi, and DS Peeper, BRAF(E600) in benign and malignant human tumours. Oncogene (2008); 27(7): 877-95.
- 18.Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS, Yudt LM, Stark M, Robbins CM, et al. High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet. (2003); 33:19–20.
- 19.Michaloglou C, LC Vredeveld, MS Soengas, C Denoyelle, T Kuilman, CM van der Horst, DM Majoor, JW Shay, WJ Mooi, and DS Peeper, BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. Nature (2005); 436(7051): 720-4.

- 20. Dankort D, DP Curley, RA Cartlidge, B Nelson, AN Karnezis, WE Damsky, Jr., MJ You, RA DePinho, M McMahon, and M Bosenberg, Braf(V600E) cooperates with Pten loss to induce metastatic melanoma. Nat Genet (2009); 41(5): 544-52.
- 21.Flaherty KT, Puzanov I, Kim KB, et al. Inhibition of mutated, activated BRAF in metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. (2010) ;363(9):809-819.
- 22.Ben Porath I, Weinberg RA. The signals and pathways activating cellular senescence. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2005); 37:961–976.
- 23.Bennett DC. Human melanocyte senescence and melanoma susceptibility genes. Oncogene (2003); 22:3063–3069.
- 24.Sherr CJ. The INK4a/ARF network in tumour suppression. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2001); 2:731–737.
- 25.Wynford-Thomas D. Cellular senescence and cancer. J Pathol (1999); 187:100–111.
- 26.Ha L, Merlino G, & Sviderskaya E V. Melanomagenesis: Overcoming the barrier of melanocyte senescence. Cell Cycle (2008); 7(13), 1944-1948.
- 27.Sullivan KD, Galbraith MD, Andrysik Z, Espinosa JM. Mechanisms of transcriptional regulation by p53. *Cell Death Differ*. (2018);25(1):133-143.
- 28.Dirac AM, Bernards R. Reversal of senescence in mouse fibroblasts through lentiviral suppression of p53. J Biol Chem (2003); 278:11731–11734
- 29.Giacinti C, Giordano A. RB and cell cycle progression. *Oncogene*. 2006;25(38):5220-5227.
- 30.Sharpless N E & Depinho R A. The INK4A/ARF locus and its two gene products. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development (1999); 9(1), 22-30

- 31.Ruas M, Peters G. The p16INK4a/CDKN2A tumor suppressor and its relatives. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1998;1378(2): F115-F177.
- 32.Hayward N. New developments in melanoma genetics. Curr Oncol Rep. 2000;2(4):300-306.
- 33.Rocco JW, Sidransky D. p16(MTS-1/CDKN2/INK4a) in cancer progression. Exp Cell Res. 2001;264(1):42-55.
- 34.Serrano M, GJ Hannon, and D Beach, A new regulatory motif in cell-cycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclin D/CDK4. Nature (1993); 366(6456): p. 704-7.
- 35.Pomerantz J, N Schreiber-Agus, NJ Liegeois, A Silverman, L Alland, L Chin, J Potes, K Chen, I Orlow, HW Lee, C Cordon-Cardo, and RA DePinho, The Ink4a tumor suppressor gene product, p19Arf, interacts with MDM2 and neutralizes MDM2's inhibition of p53. Cell (1998); 92(6): p. 713-23.
- 36.Zhang Y, Y Xiong, and WG Yarbrough, ARF promotes MDM2 degradation and stabilizes p53: ARF-INK4a locus deletion impairs both the Rb and p53 tumor suppression pathways. Cell (1998); 92(6): p. 725-34.
- 37.Clark WH Jr, Ainsworth AM, Bernardino EA, Yang CH, Mihm CM Jr, Reed RJ. The developmental biology of primary human malignant melanomas. Semin Oncol. (1975) ;2(2):83-103.
- 38.Dickson PV, Gershenwald JE. Staging and prognosis of cutaneous melanoma. *Surg Oncol Clin N Am*. 2011;20(1):1-17.
- 39.Elder DE, Murphy GF. Malignant tumors (melanomas and related lesions). Melanocytic tumors of the skin. In: Elder DE, Murphy GF, editors. Washington (DC): Armed Forces Institute of Pathology; (1991). 103–206.

- 40.Elder DE, Guerry DIV, Epstein MN, et al. Invasive malignant melanomas lacking competence for metastasis. Am J Dermatopathol 1984; 6:55–62.
- 41.Gandini S, Sera F, Cattaruzza MS, et al. Meta-analysis of risk factors for cutaneous melanoma: II. Sun exposure. EurJ Cancer 2005; 41:45-60.
- 42.Potrony M, Badenas C , Aguilera P, Puig-Butille J A , Carrera C , Malvehy J & Puig S.Update in genetic susceptibility in melanoma. Ann Transl Med(2015); 3(15) 210
- 43.Vink AA, Roza L. Biological consequences of cyclobutene pyrimidine dimers. J Photochem Photobiol B (2001); 65:101-4.
- 44.Gilchrest BA, MS Eller, AC Geller, and M Yaar, The pathogenesis of melanoma induced by ultraviolet radiation. N Engl J Med (1999); 340(17): 1341-8
- 45.Hussein MR, Ultraviolet radiation and skin cancer: molecular mechanisms. J Cutan Pathol (2005); 32(3): 191-205.
- 46.Palmer JS, DL Duffy, NF Box, JF Aitken, LE O'Gorman, AC Green,NK Hayward, NG Martin, and RA Sturm, Melanocortin-1 receptor polymorphisms and risk of melanoma: is the association explained solely by pigmentation phenotype? Am J Hum Genet (2000); 66(1): 176-86.
- 47.Kennedy C, J ter Huurne, M Berkhout, N Gruis, M Bastiaens, W Bergman, R Willemze, and JN Bavinck, Melanocortin 1 receptor (MC1R) gene variants are associated with an increased risk for cutaneous melanoma which is largely independent of skin type and hair color. J Invest Dermatol (2001); 117(2): 294-300.
- 48.Wolf Horrell EM, Boulanger MC, D'Orazio JA. Melanocortin 1 Receptor: Structure, Function, and Regulation. *Front Genet*. 2016; 7:95.
- 49.Kadekaro AL, H Kanto, R Kavanagh, and Z Abdel-Malek, Significance of the melanocortin 1 receptor in regulating human melanocyte pigmentation, proliferation, and survival. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2003); 994: 359-65.
- 50.Naysmith L, K Waterston, T Ha, N Flanagan, Y Bisset, A Ray, K Wakamatsu, S Ito, and JL Rees, Quantitative measures of the effect of the melanocortin 1 receptor on human pigmentary status. J Invest Dermatol (2004); 122(2): 423-8.
- 51.Valverde P, E Healy, I Jackson, JL Rees, and AJ Thody, Variants of the melanocyte stimulating hormone receptor gene are associated with red hair and fair skin in humans. Nat Genet (1995); 11(3): 328-30.
- 52.Healy E, SA Jordan, PS Budd, R Suffolk, JL Rees, and IJ Jackson, Functional variation of MC1R alleles from red-haired individuals. Hum Mol Genet (2001);10(21): 2397402.
- 53.Bastiaens M, J ter Huurne, N Gruis, W Bergman, R Westendorp, BJ Vermeer, and JN Bouwes Bavinck, The melanocortin-1-receptor gene is the major freckle gene. Hum Mol Genet (2001);10(16): 1701-8.
- 54.Valverde P, E Healy, S Sikkink, F Haldane, AJ Thody, A Carothers, IJ Jackson, and JL Rees, The Asp84Glu variant of the melanocortin 1 receptor (MC1R) is associated with melanoma. Hum Mol Genet (1996); 5(10): 1663-6.
- 55.Florell SR, KM Boucher, G Garibotti, J Astle, R Kerber, G Mineau, C Wiggins, RD Noyes, A Tsodikov, LA Cannon-Albright, JJ Zone, WE Samlowski, and SA Leachman, Population-based analysis of prognostic factors and survival in familial melanoma. J Clin Oncol (2005); 23(28): 7168-77.

- 56.Goldstein AM, et al., High-risk melanoma susceptibility genes and pancreatic cancer, neural system tumors, and uveal melanoma across GenoMEL. Cancer Res (2006);66(20): 9818-28.
- 57.Zuo L, J Weger, Q Yang, AM Goldstein, MA Tucker, GJ Walker, N Hayward, and NC Dracopoli, Germline mutations in the p16INK4a binding domain of CDK4 in familial melanoma. Nat Genet (1996); 12(1): p. 97-9.
- 58.Molven A, MB Grimstvedt, SJ Steine, M Harland, MF Avril, NK Hayward, and LA Akslen, A large Norwegian family with inherited malignant melanoma, multiple atypical nevi, and CDK4 mutation. Genes Chromosomes Cancer (2005); 44(1): p. 10-8.
- 59.Pjanova D, L Engele, JA Randerson-Moor, M Harland, DT Bishop, JA Newton Bishop, C Taylor, T Debniak, J Lubinski, R Kleina, and O Heisele, CDKN2A and CDK4 variants in Latvian melanoma patients: analysis of a clinic-based population. Melanoma Res (2007); 17(3): 185-91.
- 60.Majore S, P De Simone, A Crisi, L Eibenschutz, F Binni, I Antigoni, C De Bernardo, C Catricala, and P Grammatico, CDKN2A/CDK4 molecular study on 155 Italian subjects with familial and/or primary multiple melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res (2008); 21(2): 209-11.
- 61.Puntervoll HE, et al., Melanoma prone families with CDK4 germline mutation: phenotypic profile and associations with MC1R variants. J Med Genet (2013); 50(4): 264-70.
- 62.Horn S, Figl A, Rachakonda PS, et al. TERT promoter mutations in familial and sporadic melanoma. Science (2013); 339:959-61.
- 63.Robles-Espinoza CD, Harland M, Ramsay AJ, et al. POT1 loss-of-function variants predispose to familial melanoma. Nat Genet (2014); 46:478-81.

- 64.Shi J, Yang XR, Ballew B, et al. Rare missense variants in POT1 predispose to familial cutaneous malignant melanoma. Nat Genet (2014); 46:482-6.
- 65.Palm W, de Lange T. How shelterin protects mammalian telomeres. Annu Rev Genet (2008); 42:301-34.
- 66.Aoude LG, Pritchard AL, Robles-Espinoza CD, et al. Nonsense mutations in the shelterin complex genes ACD and TERF2IP in familial melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst (2014);107.
- 67.Marais R and CJ Marshall, Control of the ERK MAP kinase cascade by Ras and Raf. Cancer Surv (1996). 27: 101-25.
- 68.Robinson MJ and MH Cobb, Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. Curr Opin Cell Biol (1997). 9(2): 180-6.
- 69.Gray-Schopfer VC, S da Rocha Dias, and R Marais, The role of B-RAF in melanoma. Cancer Metastasis Rev (2005). 24(1): p. 165-83.
- 70.Simanshu DK, Nissley DV, Mccormick F. RAS Proteins and Their Regulators in Human Disease. *Cell*. (2017);170(1):17-33.
- 71.Leicht DT, Balan V, Kaplun A, et al. Raf kinases: function, regulation and role in human cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2007);1773(8):1196-1212.
- 72.Marais R & Marshall CJ, Control of the ERK MAP kinase cascade by Ras and Raf. Cancer Surv (1996); 27: p. 101-25.
- 73.Braicu C, Buse M, Busuioc C, et al. A Comprehensive Review on MAPK: A Promising Therapeutic Target in Cancer. *Cancers (Basel)*. (2019);11(10):1618.
- 74.Malumbres M, Barbacid M. RAS oncogenes: the first 30 years. Nat Rev Cancer (2003);3: 459–465.

- 75.Lowy DR, Willumsen BM. Function and regulation of ras. Annu Rev Biochem (1993); 62: 851–891.
- 76.Buday L, Downward J. Epidermal growth factor regulates p21ras through the formation of a complex of receptor, Grb2 adapter protein, and Sos nucleotide exchange factor. Cell (1993); 73: 611–620.
- 77.Fedorenko IV, Gibney GT, Smalley KS. NRAS mutant melanoma: biological behavior and future strategies for therapeutic management. Oncogene. (2013);32(25):3009–3018.
- 78.Nakhaeizadeh H, Amin E, Nakhaei-Rad S, Dvorsky R, Ahmadian MR. The RAS-Effector Interface: Isoform-Specific Differences in the Effector Binding Regions. *PLoS One*. (2016);11(12):e0167145.
- 79.Castellano E, Downward J. Role of RAS in the regulation of PI 3-kinase. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2010);346:143-169.
- 80.Rajalingam K, Schreck R, Rapp UR, Albert S. Ras oncogenes and their downstream targets. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2007);1773(8):1177-1195.
- 81.Wohlgemuth S, Kiel C, Krämer A, Serrano L, Wittinghofer F, Herrmann C. Recognizing and defining true Ras binding domains I: biochemical analysis. *J Mol Biol*. (2005);348(3):741-758.
- 82.Cohen C, A Zavala-Pompa, JH Sequeira, M Shoji, DG Sexton, G Cotsonis, F Cerimele,
  B Govindarajan, N Macaron, and JL Arbiser, Mitogen-actived protein kinase activation
  is an early event in melanoma progression. Clin Cancer Res (2002); 8(12): p. 3728-33.
- 83.Marranci A, Jiang Z, Vitiello M, Guzzolino E, Comelli L, Sarti S & Poliseno L. The landscape of BRAF transcript and protein variants in human cancer. Mol Cancer (2017); 16(1), 85

- 84.Davies H, Bignell G R, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg, S, Futreal PA. Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature(2002); 417(6892), 949-954.
- 85.Lavoie, H., & Therrien, M. Regulation of RAF protein kinases in ERK signalling. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology (2015); 16(5), 281-298.
- 86.Michaloglou C, LC Vredeveld, WJ Mooi, and DS Peeper, BRAF(E600) in benign and malignant human tumours. Oncogene (2008); 27(7): 877-95.
- 87.Wan PT, MJ Garnett, SM Roe, S Lee, D Niculescu-Duvaz, VM Good, CM Jones, CJ Marshall, CJ Springer, D Barford, and R Marais, Mechanism of activation of the RAFERK signaling pathway by oncogenic mutations of B-RAF. Cell (2004); 116(6): 85567.
- 88.Cantwell-Dorris ER, O'leary JJ, Sheils OM. BRAFV600E: Implications for Carcinogenesis and Molecular Therapy. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*. (2011);10(3):385-394.
- 89.White R, Otaibi Z, Rao R, Finley G. BRAF V600E Mutation in Multiple Primary Malignancies: A Hairy Affair. *Cureus* (2018); doi:10.7759/cureus.3600
- 90.Orgaz JL and V Sanz-Moreno, Emerging molecular targets in melanoma invasion and metastasis. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res (2013); 26(1): 39-57.
- 91. Sharma A, NR Trivedi, MA Zimmerman, DA Tuveson, CD Smith, and GP Robertson, Mutant V599EB-Raf regulates growth and vascular development of malignant melanoma tumors. Cancer Res (2005); 65(6): 2412-21.
- 92.Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell. (2015); 161:1681–1696.
- 93.Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS, Yudt LM, Stark M, Robbins CM, et al. High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet. (2003); 33:19–20.

- 94.Michaloglou C, LC Vredeveld, MS Soengas, C Denoyelle, T Kuilman, CM van der Horst, DM Majoor, JW Shay, WJ Mooi, and DS Peeper, BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. Nature (2005); 436(7051): 720-4.
- 95. Glitza IC, Davies MA. Genotyping of cutaneous melanoma. *Chin Clin Oncol.* (2014);3(3):27.
- 96.Dhomen N, Reis-Filho JS, Dias SDR, et al. Oncogenic Braf Induces Melanocyte Senescence and Melanoma in Mice. *Cancer Cell.* (2009);15(4):294-303.
- 97.Watson IR, Wu C-J, Zou L, Gershenwald JE, Chin L. Abstract 2972: Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. (2015); doi:10.1158/1538-7445.
- 98.Chin L, Tam A, Pomerantz J, et al. Essential role for oncogenic Ras in tumour maintenance. *Nature*. (1999) ;400(6743):468-472.
- 99.Ackermann J, Frutschi M, Kaloulis K, Mckee T, Trumpp A, Beermann F. Metastasizing Melanoma Formation Caused by Expression of Activated N-RasQ61Kon an INK4a-Deficient Background. *Cancer Research*. (2005);65(10):4005-4011.
- 100.Whitwam T, Vanbrocklin MW, Russo ME, Haak PT, Bilgili D, Resau JH et al.Differential oncogenic potential of activated RAS isoforms in melanocytes. Oncogene (2007); 26: 4563–4570.
- 101.Daud A, Bastian BC. Beyond BRAF in melanoma. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. (2012);355:99–117.
- 102.Smith MJ, Neel BG, Ikura M. NMR-based functional profiling of RASopathies and oncogenic RAS mutations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2013);110(12):4574-4579.

- 103.Hobbs GA, Der CJ, Rossman KL. RAS isoforms and mutations in cancer at a glance. *Journal of Cell Science*. (2016);129(7):1287-1292.
- 104.Bauer J, Curtin JA, Pinkel D, Bastian BC. Congenital melanocytic nevi frequently harbor NRAS mutations but no BRAF mutations. J Invest Dermatol (2007); 127:179–182.
- 105.Devitt B, Liu W, Salemi R, et al. Clinical outcome and pathological features associated with NRAS mutation in cutaneous melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. (2011);24(4):666–672.
- 106.Muñoz-Couselo E, Adelantado EZ, Ortiz C, García JS, Perez-Garcia J. *NRAS*-mutant melanoma: current challenges and future prospect. *Onco Targets Ther*. (2017);10:3941-3947.
- 107.Pfeifer GP, You YH, Besaratinia A. Mutations induced by ultraviolet light. Mutat Res(2005); 571: 19–31
- 108.Garnett MJ, Marais R. Guilty as charged: B-RAF is a human oncogene. Cancer Cell. (2004);6(4):313-319.
- 109.Sensi M, Nicolini G, Petti C, et al. Mutually exclusive NRASQ61R and BRAFV600E mutations at the single-cell level in the same human melanoma. Oncogene. (2006);25(24):3357-3364.
- 110.Tsao H, V Goel, H Wu, G Yang, and FG Haluska, Genetic interaction between NRAS and BRAF mutations and PTEN/MMAC1 inactivation in melanoma. J Invest Dermatol (2004); 122(2): 337-4.
- 111. Hodis E, et al., A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell (2012); 150(2): 251-63.

- 112.Haluska FG, H Tsao, H Wu, FS Haluska, A Lazar, and V Goel, Genetic alterations in signaling pathways in melanoma. Clin Cancer Res (2006);12(7 Pt 2): 2301s-2307s.
- 113.Kaelin WG. The Concept of Synthetic Lethality in the Context of Anticancer Therapy. *Nature Reviews Cancer*. (2005);5(9):689-698.
- 114.Cisowski J, Bergo MO. What makes oncogenes mutually exclusive? *Small GTPases*. 2016;8(3):187-192.
- 115.Vivanco I, Sawyers CL. The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. Nat RevCancer. (2002); 2:489-501.
- 116.Castellano E, Downward J. Role of RAS in the regulation of PI3-kinase. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. (2011);346:143-69.
- 117.Muthusamy V, S Duraisamy, CM Bradbury, C Hobbs, DP Curley, B Nelson, and M Bosenberg, Epigenetic silencing of novel tumor suppressors in malignant melanoma. Cancer Res (2006); 66(23): 11187-93.
- 118.Hodis E, et al., A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell (2012); 150(2): 251-63.
- 119.Forbes SA, D Beare, P Gunasekaran, K Leung, N Bindal, H Boutselakis, M Ding, S Bamford, C Cole, S Ward, CY Kok, M Jia, T De, JW Teague, MR Stratton, UMcDermott, and PJ Campbell, COSMIC: exploring the world's knowledge of somatic mutations in human cancer. Nucleic Acids Res (2015); 43(Database issue): D805-11.
- 120.Chin L, LA Garraway, and DE Fisher, Malignant melanoma: genetics and therapeutics in the genomic era. Genes Dev (2006); 20(16): 2149-82.
- 121.Kaelin WG. The Concept of Synthetic Lethality in the Context of Anticancer Therapy. *Nature Reviews Cancer*. (2005);5(9):689-698.

- 122.Liu P, H Cheng, TM Roberts and JJ Zhao, Targeting the phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway in cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2009); 8(8): 627-44.
- 123.Davies MA, The role of the PI3K-AKT pathway in melanoma. Cancer J (2012); 18(2): 142-7.
- 124.Altomare DA and JR Testa, Perturbations of the AKT signaling pathway in human cancer. Oncogene (2005); 24(50): 7455-64.
- 125.Auger KR, Serunian LA, Soltoff SP, Libby P, Cantley LC. PDGF-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation stimulates production of novel polyphosphoinositides in intact cells. *Cell*. (1989);57(1):167-175.
- 126.Vivanco I, Sawyers CL. The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase–AKT pathway in human cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*. (2002);2(7):489-501.
- 127.Maffucci T, Brancaccio A, Piccolo E, Stein RC, Falasca M. Insulin induces phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate formation through TC10 activation. *EMBO J*. (2003);22(16):4178-4189.
- 128.Burgering BMT, Coffer PJ. Protein kinase B (c-Akt) in phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase signal transduction. *Nature*. (1995);376(6541):599-602.
- 129.Franke TF, Yang S-I, Chan TO, et al. The protein kinase encoded by the Akt protooncogene is a target of the PDGF-activated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Cell*. (1995);81(5):727-736.
- 130.Andjelkovic M, Jakubowicz T, Cron P, Ming XF, Han JW, Hemmings BA. Activation and phosphorylation of a pleckstrin homology domain containing protein kinase (RAC-PK/PKB) promoted by serum and protein phosphatase inhibitors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. (1996);93(12):5699-5704.

- 131.Alessi DR, Andjelkovic M, Caudwell B, et al. Mechanism of activation of protein kinase B by insulin and IGF-1. *The EMBO Journal*. (1996);15(23):6541-6551
- 132.Sarbassov D, Guertin D, Ali SM, Sabatini DM. Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the Rictor-mTOR complex. Science. (2005); 307:1098–1101
- 133.Manning BD, Toker A. AKT/PKB Signaling: Navigating the Network. Cell (2017);169(3):381-405.
- 134. Vivanco I, Sawyers CL. The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase–AKT pathway in human cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*. (2002);2(7):489-501.
- 135.Van der Vos KE, Coffer PJ. The extending network of FOXO transcriptional target genes. Antioxid Redox Signal. (2011);14(4):579-592.
- 136.Brunet A, Bonni A, Zigmond MJ, et al. Akt Promotes Cell Survival by Phosphorylating and Inhibiting a Forkhead Transcription Factor. *Cell*. (1999);96(6):857-868.
- 137.Mayo LD, Donner DB. A phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway promotes translocation of Mdm2 from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. (2001);98(20):11598-11603.
- 138.Fischer M. Census and evaluation of p53 target genes. *Oncogene*. (2017);36(28):3943-3956.
- 139.Kops GJPL, Medema RH, Glassford J, et al. Control of Cell Cycle Exit and Entry by Protein Kinase B-Regulated Forkhead Transcription Factors. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. (2002);22(7):2025-2036.
- 140.Medema RH, Kops GJ, Bos JL, Burgering BM. AFX-like forkhead transcription factors mediate cell-cycle regulation by Ras and PKB through p27<sup>Kip1</sup>. *Nature* (2000); **404**: 782– 787.

- 141.Manning BD, Toker A. AKT/PKB Signaling: Navigating the Network. Cell (2017);169(3):381-405.
- 142.Zhou B, Liao Y, Xia W, Spohn B, Lee M, Hung M. Cytoplasmic localization of p21Cip1/WAF1 by Akt-induced phosphorylation in HER-2/neu-overexpressing cells. Nat Cell Biol (2001); 3: 245–252.
- 143.Holz MK, Ballif BA, Gygi SP, Blenis J. mTOR and S6K1 Mediate Assembly of the Translation Preinitiation Complex through Dynamic Protein Interchange and Ordered Phosphorylation Events. Cell. (2005);123(4):569-580.
- 144.Fecker LF, Geilen CC, Tchernev G, et al. Loss of Proapoptotic Bcl-2-Related Multidomain Proteins in Primary Melanomas Is Associated with Poor Prognosis. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. (2006);126(6):1366-1371.
- 145.Liu X-L, Ding J, Meng L-H. Oncogene-induced senescence: a double edged sword in cancer. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*. (2018);39(10):1553-1558.
- 146.Karst AM, Dai DL, Martinka M, Li G. PUMA expression is significantly reduced in human cutaneous melanomas. *Oncogene*. (2004);24(6):1111-1116.
- 147.Armstrong JL, Veal GJ, Redfern CPF, Lovat PE. Role of Noxa in p53-independent fenretinide-induced apoptosis of neuroectodermal tumours. *Apoptosis*. (2007);12(3):613-622.
- 148.Eberle J, Hossini A. Expression and Function of Bcl-2 Proteins in Melanoma. *Current Genomics*. (2008);9(6):409-419.
- 149.Myers MP, Stolarov JP, Eng C, et al. P-TEN, the tumor suppressor from human chromosome 10q23, is a dual-specificity phosphatase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. (1997);94(17):9052-9057.

- 150.Cristofano AD, Pesce B, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP. Pten is essential for embryonic development and tumour suppression. *Nature Genetics*. (1998);19(4):348-355.
- 151.Maehama T, Dixon JE. The Tumor Suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, Dephosphorylates the Lipid Second Messenger, Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-Trisphosphate. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. (1998);273(22):13375-13378.
- 152.Stambolic V, Suzuki A, Pompa JLDL, et al. Negative Regulation of PKB/Akt-Dependent Cell Survival by the Tumor Suppressor PTEN. *Cell*. (1998);95(1):29-39.
- 153.Sun H, Lesche R, Li D-M, et al. PTEN modulates cell cycle progression and cell survival by regulating phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate and Akt/protein kinase B signaling pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. (1999);96(11):6199-6204.
- 154.Downes CP, Ross S, Maccario H, Perera N, Davidson L, Leslie NR.Stimulation of PI 3kinase signaling via inhibition of the tumor suppressor phosphatase, PTEN. Adv Enzyme Regul. (2007); 47:184–94.
- 155.Worby CA, Dixon JE. Pten. Annu Rev Biochem (2014); 83:641–69.
- 156.Stiles BL. PI-3-K and AKT: onto the mitochondria. Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2009); 61:1276– 82
- 157.Li J. PTEN, a Putative Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase Gene Mutated in Human Brain, Breast, and Prostate Cancer. *Science*. (1997);275(5308):1943-1947.
- 158.Steck PA, Pershouse MA, Jasser SA, et al. Identification of a candidate tumour suppressor gene, MMAC1, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. *Nature Genetics*. (1997);15(4):356-362.

- 159.Steck DA, Ligon AH, Cheong P, Yung WKA, Pershouse MA. Two tumor suppressive loci on chromosome 10 involved in human glioblastomas. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer*. 1995;12(4):255-261.
- 160.Pershouse MA, Stubblefield E, Hadi A, Killary AM, Yung WK, Steck PA . Analysis of the functional role of chromosome 10 loss in human glioblastomas. Cancer Res. (1993); 53:5043–5050.
- 161.Pilarski R, Eng C. Will the real Cowden syndrome please stand up (again)? Expanding mutational and clinical spectra of the PTEN hamartoma tumour syndrome. J Med Genet. (2004);41(5):323-326.
- 162.Le H, RL Tanguay, ML Balasta, CC Wei, KS Browning, AM Metz, DJ Goss, and DR Gallie, Translation initiation factors eIF-iso4G and eIF-4B interact with the poly(A)binding protein and increase its RNA binding activity. J Biol Chem (1997); 272(26): p. 16247-55.
- 163.Wiznerowicz M, J Szulc, and D Trono, Tuning silence: conditional systems for RNA interference. Nat Methods (2006); 3(9): 682-8.
- 164.Chang K, SJ Elledge, and GJ Hannon, Lessons from Nature: microRNA-based shRNA libraries. Nat Methods (2006);3(9): p. 707-14.
- 165.Samuels Y. High Frequency of Mutations of the PIK3CA Gene in Human Cancers. *Science*. (2004);304(5670):554-554.
- 166.Samuels Y, Waldman T. Oncogenic Mutations of PIK3CA in Human Cancers. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology Phosphoinositide 3-kinase in Health and Disease*. 2010:21-41.
- 167.Curtin JA, Stark MS, Pinkel D, Hayward NK, Bastian BC. PI3-kinase subunits are infrequent somatic targets in melanoma. J Invest Dermatol. (2006);126(7):1660-1663.

- 168. Omholt K, Kröckel D, Ringborg U & Hansson J. Mutations of PIK3CA are rare in cutaneous melanoma. Melanoma Research (2006); 16(2), 197-200.
- 169.Carlson JA, Linette GP, Aplin A, Ng B. and Slominski A. Melanocyte receptors: clinical implications and therapeutic relevance. Dermatol (2007); Clin. 25, 541–557
- 170. Liu J, Fukunaga-Kalabis M, Li L, Herlyn M. Developmental pathways activated in melanocytes and melanoma. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*. (2014);563:13-21.
- 171.Davies MA, Stemke-Hale K, Tellez C, et al. A novel AKT3 mutation in melanoma tumours and cell lines. *British Journal of Cancer*. (2008);99(8):1265-1268.
- 172.Stahl JM, A Sharma, M Cheung, M Zimmerman, JQ Cheng, MW Bosenberg, M Kester, L Sandirasegarane, and GP Robertson, Deregulated Akt3 activity promotes development of malignant melanoma. Cancer Res (2004); 64(19): p. 7002-10.
- 173.Cheung M, Sharma A, Madhunapantula SV, Robertson GP. Akt3 and Mutant V600EB-Raf Cooperate to Promote Early Melanoma Development. Cancer Research. (2008);68(9):3429-3439
- 174.Tsao H, Zhang X, Fowlkes K, Haluska FG. Relative reciprocity of NRAS and PTEN/MMAC1 alterations in cutaneous melanoma cell lines. Cancer Res. (2000);60(7):1800-1804.
- 175.Goel VK, Lazar AJ, Warneke CL, Redston MS, Haluska FG. Examination of Mutations in BRAF, NRAS, and PTEN in Primary Cutaneous Melanoma. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. (2006);126(1):154-160.
- 176.Glitza IC, Davies MA. Genotyping of cutaneous melanoma. *Chin Clin Oncol.* (2014);3(3):27.

- 177.Hauschild A, Grob J-J, Demidov LV, et al. Dabrafenib in BRAF-mutated metastatic melanoma: a multicentre, open-label, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. The Lancet. (2012);380(9839):358-365.
- 178. Flaherty KT, et al., Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600mutations. N Engl J Med (2012); 367(18):1694-703.
- 179. Girotti MR, G Saturno, P Lorigan, and R Marais, No longer an untreatable disease: how targeted and immunotherapies have changed the management of melanoma patients. Mol Oncol (2014); 8(6): 1140-58.
- 180.Jang S and MB Atkins, Treatment of BRAF-mutant melanoma: the role of vemurafenib and other therapies. Clin Pharmacol Ther (2014); 95(1): 24-31.
- 181.A de Bruyns. An shRNA expression system to interrogate the role of PTEN proximal genes in BRAF V600E-driven melanoma malignancy in vitro. [master's thesis]. McGill: Biology Department; 2015.
- 182.Gordon M. RG7204 (PLX4032), a Selective BRAFV600E Inhibitor, Displays Potent Antitumor Activity in Preclinical Melanoma Models. Yearbook of Oncology. (2010); 2010:191.
- 183.Chapman PB, et al., Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. N Engl J Med (2011). 364(26): p. 2507-16.
- 184.Bollag G, et al., Clinical efficacy of a RAF inhibitor needs broad target blockade in BRAFmutant melanoma. Nature (2010); 467(7315): 596-9.
- 185.Joseph EW, CA Pratilas, PI Poulikakos, M Tadi, W Wang, BS Taylor, E Halilovic, Y Persaud, F Xing, A Viale, J Tsai, PB Chapman, G Bollag, DB Solit, and N Rosen, The

RAF inhibitor PLX4032 inhibits ERK signaling and tumor cell proliferation in a V600E BRAF-selective manner. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2010); 107(33): 14903-8.

- 186.Eggermont AM and JM Kirkwood, Re-evaluating the role of dacarbazine in metastatic melanoma: what have we learned in 30 years? Eur J Cancer (2004); 40(12): 1825-36.
- 187.Atkins MB, L Kunkel, M Sznol, and SA Rosenberg, High-dose recombinant interleukin2 therapy in patients with metastatic melanoma: long-term survival update. Cancer J Sci Am (2000);6 Suppl 1: p. S11-4.
- 188.Jang S, Atkins MB. Which drug, and when, for patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma? *The Lancet Oncology*. (2013);14(2).
- 189.Sabbatino F, Wang Y, Wang X, Ferrone S, Ferrone CR. Emerging BRAF inhibitors for melanoma. *Expert Opinion on Emerging Drugs*. (2013);18(4):431-443.
- 190.Nazarian R, Shi H, Wang Q, et al. Melanomas acquire resistance to B-RAF(V600E) inhibition by RTK or N-RAS upregulation. Nature. (2010);468(7326):973-977.
- 191.Villanueva J, Vultur A, Lee JT, et al. Acquired resistance to BRAF inhibitors mediated by a RAF kinase switch in melanoma can be overcome by co-targeting MEK and IGF-1R/PI3K. Cancer Cell. (2010);18(6):683-695.
- 192.Montagut C, Sharma SV, Shioda T, et al. Elevated CRAF as a Potential Mechanism of Acquired Resistance to BRAF Inhibition in Melanoma. Cancer Research. (2008);68(12):4853-4861.
- 193.Deng W, Gopal YNV, Scott A, Chen G, Woodman SE, Davies MA. Role and therapeutic potential of PI3K-mTOR signaling in de novo resistance to BRAF inhibition. Pigment Cell & Melanoma Research. (2012);25(2):248-258.

- 194.Girotti MR and R Marais, Deja Vu: EGF receptors drive resistance to BRAF inhibitors. Cancer Discov (2013); 3(5): p. 487-90.
- 195.Girotti MR, M Pedersen, B Sanchez-Laorden, A Viros, S Turajlic, D Niculescu-Duvaz, A Zambon, J Sinclair, A Hayes, M Gore, P Lorigan, C Springer, J Larkin, C Jorgensen, and R Marais, Inhibiting EGF receptor or SRC family kinase signaling overcomes BRAF inhibitor resistance in melanoma. Cancer Discov (2013); 3(2): p. 158-67.
- 196.Shi H, X Kong, A Ribas, and RS Lo, Combinatorial treatments that overcome PDGFRbeta-driven resistance of melanoma cells to V600EB-RAF inhibition. Cancer Res (2011); 71(15): p. 5067-74.
- 197.Vergani E, V Vallacchi, S Frigerio, P Deho, P Mondellini, P Perego, G Cassinelli, C Lanzi, MA Testi, L Rivoltini, I Bongarzone, and M Rodolfo, Identification of MET and SRC activation in melanoma cell lines showing primary resistance to PLX4032. Neoplasia (2011); 13(12): p. 1132-42.
- 198.Villanueva J, et al., Acquired resistance to BRAF inhibitors mediated by a RAF kinase switch in melanoma can be overcome by cotargeting MEK and IGF-1R/PI3K. Cancer Cell (2010); 18(6): p. 683-95.
- 199.Emery CM, KG Vijayendran, MC Zipser, AM Sawyer, L Niu, JJ Kim, C Hatton, R Chopra, PA Oberholzer, MB Karpova, LE MacConaill, J Zhang, NS Gray, WR Sellers, R Dummer, and LA Garraway, MEK1 mutations confer resistance to MEK and B-RAF inhibition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2009); 106(48): p. 20411-6.
- 200.Trunzer K, Pavlick AC, Schuchter L, et al. Pharmacodynamic Effects and Mechanisms of Resistance to Vemurafenib in Patients With Metastatic Melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. (2013);31(14):1767-1774.

- 201.Poulikakos PI, Rosen N. Mutant BRAF Melanomas—Dependence and Resistance. Cancer Cell. (2011);19(1):11-15.
- 202.Luke JJ, Flaherty KT, Ribas A, Long GV. Targeted agents and immunotherapies: optimizing outcomes in melanoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2017);14(8):463-482.
- 203.Dankner M, Rose AAN, Rajkumar S, Siegel PM, Watson IR. Classifying BRAF alterations in cancer: new rational therapeutic strategies for actionable mutations. Oncogene. (2018);37(24):3183-3199.
- 204.Larkin J, Ascierto PA, Dréno B, et al. Combined vemurafenib and cobimetinib in BRAFmutated melanoma. N Engl J Med. (2014);371(20):1867–1876.
- 205.Nathanson KL, Martin A-M, Wubbenhorst B, et al. Tumor Genetic Analyses of Patients with Metastatic Melanoma Treated with the BRAF Inhibitor Dabrafenib (GSK2118436). *Clinical Cancer Research*. (2013);19(17):4868-4878.
- 206.Xing F, Persaud Y, Pratilas CA, et al. Concurrent loss of the PTEN and RB1 tumor suppressors attenuates RAF dependence in melanomas harboring V600EBRAF. *Oncogene*. (2011);31(4):446-457.
- 207.Shao Y, Aplin AE. Akt3-Mediated Resistance to Apoptosis in B-RAF-Targeted Melanoma Cells. *Cancer Research*. (2010);70(16):6670-6681.
- 208.Jakob JA, Bassett RL, Jr, Ng CS, et al. NRAS mutation status is an independent prognostic factor in metastatic melanoma. Cancer (2012); 118:4014-23.
- 209.Halaban R, Zhang W, Bacchiocchi A, et al. PLX4032, a selective BRAF(V600E) kinase inhibitor, activates the ERK pathway and enhances cell migration and proliferation of BRAF melanoma cells. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. (2010);23(2):190-200.

- 210. Kaplan FM, Shao Y, Mayberry MM, Aplin AE. Hyperactivation of MEK-ERK1/2 signaling and resistance to apoptosis induced by the oncogenic B-RAF inhibitor, PLX4720, in mutant N-RAS melanoma cells. Oncogene. (2011);30(3):366-371.
- 211.Garnett MJ, Rana S, Paterson H, Barford D, Marais R. Wild-type and mutant B-RAF activate C-RAF through distinct mechanisms involving heterodimerization. Mol Cell. (2005);20(6):963-969.
- 212.Heidorn SJ, Milagre C, Whittaker S, et al. Kinase-Dead BRAF and Oncogenic RAS Cooperate to Drive Tumor Progression through CRAF. Cell. (2010);140(2):209-221.
- 213.Konstantinopoulos PA, Karamouzis MV, Papavassiliou AG. Post-translational modifications and regulation of the RAS superfamily of GTPases as anticancer targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2007); 6:541–55.
- 214.Karp JE, Vener TI, Raponi M, et al. Multi-institutional phase 2 clinical and pharmacogenomic trial of tipifarnib plus etoposide for elderly adults with newly diagnosed acute myelogenous leukemia. *Blood*. (2012);119(1):55-63.
- 215.Wang J, Yao X, Huang J. New tricks for human farnesyltransferase inhibitor: cancer and beyond. *MedChemComm*. (2017);8(5):841-854.
- 216.Gajewski TF, Salama AK, Niedzwiecki D, et al. Phase II study of the farnesyltransferase inhibitor R115777 in advanced melanoma (CALGB 500104). J Transl Med. (2012); 10:246.
- 217.McCormick F. Progress in targeting RAS with small molecule drugs. Biochemical Journal. (2019);476(2):365-374.

- 218.Whyte DB, Kirschmeier P, Hockenberry TN, et al. K- and N-Ras are geranylgeranylated in cells treated with farnesyl protein transferase inhibitors. *J Biol Chem*. (1997);272(22):14459-14464.
- 219.Gossen M, S Freundlieb, G Bender, G Muller, W Hillen, and H Bujard, Transcriptional activation by tetracyclines in mammalian cells. Science (1995). 268(5218): p. 1766-9.
- 220.O'Bryan JP. Pharmacological targeting of RAS: Recent success with direct inhibitors. *Pharmacological Research*. (2019); 139:503-511.
- LS. Thematic 221.Lane KT. Beese review series: Lipid Posttranslational Modifications.Structural biology of protein farnesyltransferase and geranylgeranyltransferase type I. Journal of Lipid Research. (2006);47(4):681-699.
- 222.Patgiri A, Yadav KK, Arora PS, Bar-Sagi D. An orthosteric inhibitor of the Ras-Sos interaction. Nature Chemical Biology. (2011);7(9):585-587.
- 223. Guillard S, Kolasinska-Zwierz P, Debreczeni J, et al. Structural and functional characterization of a DARPin which inhibits Ras nucleotide exchange. Nature Communications. (2017);8(1).
- 224.Patricelli MP, Janes MR, Li LS, et al. Selective Inhibition of Oncogenic KRAS Output with Small Molecules Targeting the Inactive State. *Cancer Discov*. (2016);6(3):316-329.
- 225.Lito P, Solomon M, Li LS, Hansen R, Rosen N. Allele-specific inhibitors inactivate mutant KRAS G12C by a trapping mechanism. *Science*. (2016);351(6273):604-608.
- 226.Janes MR, Zhang J, Li LS, et al. Targeting KRAS Mutant Cancers with a Covalent G12C-Specific Inhibitor. *Cell*. (2018);172(3):578-589.e17.
- 227.Grill C, Larue L. NRAS, NRAS, Which Mutation Is Fairest of Them All? *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 2016;136(10):1936-1938.

- 228.Ascierto PA, Schadendorf D, Berking C, et al. MEK162 for patients with advanced melanoma harbouring NRAS or Val600 BRAF mutations: a non-randomised, open-label phase 2 study. The Lancet Oncology. (2013);14(3):249-256.
- 229.Kwong LN, Costello JC, Liu H, et al. Oncogenic NRAS signaling differentially regulates survival and proliferation in melanoma. Nature Medicine. (2012);18(10):1503-1510.
- 230.Sosman JA, Kittaneh M, Lolkema MPJ, Postow MA, Schwartz G, et al. A phase 1b/2 study of LEE011 in combination with binimetinib (MEK162) in patients with NRAS-mutant melanoma: early encouraging clinical activity. J Clin Oncol. (2014); 32:9009.
- 231.Engelman JA, Chen L, Tan X, et al. Effective use of PI3K and MEK inhibitors to treat mutant Kras G12D and PIK3CA H1047R murine lung cancers. *Nat Med*. (2008);14(12):1351-1356.
- 232.Jaiswal BS, Janakiraman V, Kljavin NM, et al. Combined targeting of BRAF and CRAF or BRAF and PI3K effector pathways is required for efficacy in NRAS mutant tumors. *PLoS One*. (2009);4(5): e5717.
- 233.Courtney KD, Corcoran RB, Engelman JA. The PI3K pathway as drug target in human cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* (2010);28(6):1075-1083.
- 234.Edgar KA, Wallin JJ, Berry M, et al. Isoform-specific phosphoinositide 3-kinase inhibitors exert distinct effects in solid tumors. *Cancer Res.* (2010);70(3):1164-1172.
- 235.Nikolaev SI, Rimoldi D, Iseli C, et al. Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic MAP2K1 and MAP2K2 mutations in melanoma. *Nature Genetics*. (2011);44(2):133-139.
- 236.Yang H, Higgins B, Kolinsky K, et al. Antitumor Activity of BRAF Inhibitor Vemurafenib in Preclinical Models of BRAF-Mutant Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer Research*. (2011);72(3):779-789.

237.Thermo Fisher Scientific I. Thermo Scientific Inducible TRIPZ Lentiviral shRNA. Retrieved from:www.bioss.unifreiburg.de/fileadmin/data/assets/pdf/TransLenti\_Viral\_GIPZ\_Packa ging\_System\_Technical\_Manual.pdf

238.IncuCyte Zoom Users Manual. Retrieved

from:http://bosch.test.med.usyd.edu.au/facilities/molecular-biology/live-

cell/ZOOM%20Manual%202013A.pdf.

- 239.Geiling B, G Vandal, AR Posner, A de Bruyns, KL Dutchak, S Garnett, and D Dankort, A modular lentiviral and retroviral construction system to rapidly generate vectors for gene expression and gene knockdown in vitro and in vivo. Plos One (2013). 8(10):e76279.
- 240.Tarun SZ, Jr. and AB Sachs, Association of the yeast poly(A) tail binding protein with translation initiation factor eIF-4G. Embo J (1996). 15(24): p. 7168-77.
- 241.K Lewis, Examination of the susceptibility of human melanoma cells with knockdown of PTEN proximal genes to chemotherapeutic and BRAFV600E and MEK 1/2 Inhibitors. [master's thesis]. McGill: Biology Department; 2016.